ESTABLISHING AND CHARACTERIZING PATIENT-DERIVED BREAST CANCER CELL

LINES

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the North Dakota State University of Agriculture and Applied Science

By

Farid Solaymani Mohammadi

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE

Major Department: Biological Sciences

August 2022

Fargo, North Dakota

North Dakota State University Graduate School

Title

ESTABLISHING AND CHARACTERIZING PATIENT-DERIVED BREAST CANCER CELL LINES

By

Farid Solaymani Mohammadi

The Supervisory Committee certifies that this *disquisition* complies with North Dakota State University's regulations and meets the accepted standards for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:

Dr. Jiha Kim Chair

Dr. Katie Reindl

Dr. Kalpana Katti

Approved:

12/02/2022

Dr. Julia Bowsher

Date

Department Chair

ABSTRACT

Commercial cancer cell lines have long been extensively used as an important platform to study cancer. They have contributed to a plethora of discoveries in the field of cancer research. However, there are limitations with using these cell lines, such as induced mutations over the long-term in vitro culture. These mutations cause incorrect exhibition of the in vivo characteristics of the cancer cells. Here, we focused on establishing Patient-derived breast cancer cell lines and attempted to characterize them in terms of several biomarkers that are shown to be overexpressed in breast cancer cells. Patient-derived breast cancer cell lines are more reliable tools to study the molecular and cellular processes taking place in vivo, since they are freshly isolated from the tumor biopsy and do not undergo induced immortalization. We explored the CK19, Ki67, vimentin, EpCAM, E-cadherin, and N-cadherin expression in three successfully established patient-derived breast cancer cell lines.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Jiha Kim, who guided me through this project. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Kalpana Katti and Dr. Katie Reindl, as well as my family, friends, and lab mates for their support and help. Also, I wish to extend my special thanks to the NSF EPSCoR Track-1 grant for the financial support of this project.

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this work to my parents, friends especially Reza Rezaiezadeh-Roukerd, Amirhadi Alesadi, and Vikneshwari Natarajan, and colleagues for their continuous support and help throughout my career. At the same time, I want to mention the tremendous support from my siblings who have been encouraging me for years.

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iv
DEDICATION	v
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Breast cancer, an overview	1
1.2. Breast cancer molecular subtypes	1
1.2.1. Luminal breast cancer cell lines	
1.2.2. HER2 positive breast cancer cell lines	
1.2.3. Triple negative breast cancer cell lines	
1.3. Markers overexpressed in breast cancer	
1.3.1. EpCAM	
1.3.2. Vimentin	6
1.3.3. Ki67	
1.3.4. CK19	
1.3.5. E-cadherin	
1.3.6. N-cadherin	
1.4. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT)	
1.5. Breast cancer research tools: Cell lines	
1.6. Primary cell cultures for personalized therapy	
1.7. Long-established breast cancer cell lines	
1.8. Recently established breast cancer cell lines	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.9. Primary cell culture	21
1.10. Explant culture	21
1.11. Culture of individual cells	21
1.12. Pros and cons of breast cancer primary culture	23
1.12.1. Ethical approval and tissue availability	24
1.13. Novel applications of primary culture for translational research	24
1.14. Development of the protocol for establishing patient-derived breast cancer cell lines	27
CHAPTER 2: ESTABLISHMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF PATIENT- DERIVED BREAST CANCER CELL LINES IN 2D CULTURE SYSTEM	30
2.1. Abstract	30
2.2. Introduction	30
2.3. Methods	32
2.3.1. Tumor dissociation	32
2.3.2. Arresting Swiss 3T3 J2 cells (MEFs)	33
2.3.3. Trypsinization and maintenance of the culture	33
2.3.4. Immunocytochemistry	33
2.3.5. Quantitative Real-time polymerase chain reactions analysis	35
2.3.6. Estrogen treatment	35
2.3.7. Statistical analysis	35
2.4. Results	36
2.4.1. Immunocytochemistry for CK19 and vimentin detection in established cell lines	37
2.4.2. Weak CK19 and vimentin expression in a portion of NT013 and NT015 cell lines	41
2.4.3. EpCAM and Ki67 expression status of the established cell lines	42
2.4.4. E-cadherin and N-cadherin expression status of the established cell lines	45

2.4.5. Changes in proliferation rate following estrogen treatment	47
2.5. Discussion	48
CHAPTER 3. SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTION	53
REFERENCES	56

LIST OF TABLES

Table		<u>Page</u>
2.1.	The list of different breast cancer biomarkers tested in this study. The function of each marker as well as their location in breast cancer cells	34
2.2.	Primers used for qPCR	35
2.3.	List of patient tumor biopsies. Fresh tumor tissues were collected from Sanford hospital after careful histological evaluation and were transferred to the lab in transport media (DMEM 10% FBS, 1X P/S)	37

LIST OF FIGURES

<u>Figure</u>		<u>Page</u>
1.1.	Female global prevalence of breast cancer by subtypes in 2015-2019. As shown, Luminal A (HR+/HER2-) subtype was the most common subtype of breast cancer in women (Source: National cancer institute)	5
1.2.	Workflow of patient-derived breast cancer cell line establishment. This workflow is based on the Conditional reprogramming technology approach for cell line establishment, in which feeder layer cells are used in co-culture with isolated breast cancer cells in F-media	28
2.1.	A) The expression status of CK19 and vimentin in the established patient-derived breast cancer cell lines using double-immunocytochemistry (Scale bar: 100µm). B) quantitative analysis of CK19 and vimentin expression in established breast cancer cell lines. As shown, all three cell lines expressed CK19. However, the NT023 weakly expressed CK19. Regarding vimentin, NT023 cells significantly expressed high levels of vimentin, and NT013 cells expressed higher level of vimentin than NT015 cells. For CK19, MDA-MB 231 and MCF-7 cell lines were considered as positive control, and Bj fibroblasts were considered as negative control. For vimentin, MDA-MB 231 and Bj fibroblasts were considered as positive control and MCF-7 cells were considered as negative control. (One-way Anova test, P-value≤0.05 considered as statistically significant).	39
2.2.	Quantitative analysis of CK19&vimentin expression in two levels (strong vs. weak) based on fluorescence intensity in NT013 cell line. As shown, there were significant number of NT013 cells with weak CK19 expression than those with strong CK19 expression. Also, there were significantly higher number of NT013 cells with strong vimentin expression than those with weak vimentin expression (One-way Anova, p-value≤0.05 was considered as statistically significant	42
2.3.	The expression status of two breast cancer biomarkers in the established patient- derived breast cancer cell lines using immunocytochemistry. A&B) EpCAM/Ki67 double staining. NT023 cells showed no EpCAM expression, while a population of NT013 and NT015 cell lines significantly expressed EpCAM. All the cell lines showed Ki67 expression (Scale bar: 100µm). B) quantitative analysis of the EpCAM and Ki67 epression in established breast cancer cell lines. There was a significantly higher EpCAM expression in NT015 compared to NT013 cell line. As expected, NT023 cell line showed no EpCAM expression. NT023 cells highly expressed Ki67, and NT013 cells expressed significantly higher Ki67 than NT015 cell line (One-way Anova test, P-value≤0.05 considered as statistically significant).	43

2.4.	.4. The expression status of two breast cancer biomarkers in the established breast cancer cell lines by q-PCR. A) N-cadherin expression. As shown, none of the established patient-derived breast cancer cell lines significantly expressed N-cadherin. BJ fibroblasts were considered as the positive control. B) E-cadherin expression. NT015 and NT013 cell lines significantly expressed E-cadherin,	
	while there was no E-cadherin expression for N1023. Experiment was done in biological and technical triplicates. (One-way Anova test, P-value≤0.05 considered as statistically significant)	
2.5.	Higher Ki67 expression in NT013 cells treated with 1nM estrogen (left), compared to untreated NT013 cells (right). This reflects a higher proliferation rate following estrogen treatment in NT013 cell line (Scale bar: 100µm)	
2.6.	Loss of CK19 expression in NT013 cells treated with 1nM estrogen. Following treatment with estrogen, NT013 cells lost their CK19 expression, while MCF-7 cells could retain their CK19 expression even following estrogen treatment	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CK19	Cytokeratin-19
EpCAM	Epithelial cell adhesion molecule
qPCR	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reactions
MEFs	Mouse embryonic fibroblasts
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
TNBC	Triple-negative breast cancer
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
DAPI	4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetracetic acid
cDNA	Complementary-deoxyribonucleic acid

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1. Breast cancer, an overview

Breast cancer is the most common cancer in women with a molecularly heterogeneous nature. Treatment approaches have changed over the last 10–15 years to accommodate for this heterogeneity, with a focus on more biologically focused therapies and treatment de-escalation to lessen side effects. Despite the inherent biological heterogeneity, some characteristics, such as the impact of locoregional tumor burden or metastatic patterns, are common and can affect therapy(1).

Early breast cancer refers to the stage of cancer contained to the breast or has only migrated to the axillary lymph nodes. Seventy to eighty percent of patients are now more likely to be cured as a result of advances in multimodal therapy. In contrast, advanced (metastasized) illness is not considered treatable with the current therapy choices available. However, advanced breast cancer is curable, with the primary goals of therapy being to prolong survival and control symptoms with minimal treatment-associated damage in order to maintain or improve quality of life(1). Figure 1.1 demonstrates the breast cancer statistics based on the molecular type.

1.2. Breast cancer molecular subtypes

1.2.1. Luminal breast cancer cell lines

Luminal breast cancer cell lines are characterized by positive ER and/or PR expression, notwithstanding a few unusual occurrences, such as IBEP-1 and IBEP-3 (2), where PR positivity drives their luminal phenotype. An array of genes and proteins associated with luminal features, such as luminal keratins (KRT8/18/19), transcription factors including GATA3 and FOXA1, and ESR1 (ER or ER), are highly expressed in these types of cell lines. Has-miR-501-5p, Has-miR-202, Has-miR-760, and Has-miR-626 have been found to be overexpressed in luminal cell lines in a specific manner, according to a systematic investigation on miRNA expression profiling (3). Due

to tight cell-cell connections, luminal cell lines are comparably more differentiated and less prone to migrate than those seen in tumors (4).

Although the majority of studies do not further divide luminal cell lines into luminal A and B subtypes based on their HER2 status, we embrace such a differentiation not only for the sake of achieving consistent categorization with tumor subtyping to facilitate straightforward tumor modelling but also to satisfy the requirement of drug response assays based on ER and HER2 status. For instance, a study using the breast cancer cell line BT474 (ER+HER2+) indicated the synergistic benefit of tamoxifen and Herceptin in the treatment of breast cancers (5), and MCF7 (ER-HER2) has traditionally been used to assess the tamoxifen-induced cell response (6). Since HER2 over-expression has been linked to ER down-regulation, luminal B cell lines are, in theory, more invasive and aggressive than luminal A cell lines. As a result, luminal B cells are more correctly referred to as weakly luminal and take part in the phenotypic attenuation of luminal A cells (7). Cell lines from this subtype with promise for translation in clinics have been used to successfully understand a great deal of information for luminal B malignancies (8-11). For instance, utilizing the ER+HER2+ cell line BT474, it has been revealed that the expression of quiescin-sulfhydryl oxidase 1 is related with a poor prognosis in luminal B tumors, indicating the value and significance of distinguishing luminal B cell lines from the luminal subtype (8).

1.2.2. HER2 positive breast cancer cell lines

The HER2, GRB7, PERLD1, STARD3, and C17ORF37 genes are all over-represented in the genomic profile of HER2 positive cell lines, which are characterized by ER negativity and HER2 positivity (12). These cell lines exhibit overt expression of micro RNAs such as has-let-7b, has-miR-640, has-miR-200c, has-miR-378, has-miR-141, has-miR-196a, has-miR-29c, and has-miR-18a* (3). HER2 positive cell lines are diverse and contain both luminal and basal

characteristics, bridging the gap between luminal and basal cell lines. According to the expression of luminal and basal markers in addition to ER and HER2 expression, they are classified as luminal-ERBB2+ and ER-negative-ERBB2+ (4). Since HER2 over-expression is linked to the breakdown of cell-cell junctions (7), cells of this subtype are more aggressive in terms of cell migration when compared with luminal cells (4). They are also more responsive to certain drugs, making them an excellent model for examining the response to Herceptin(4). A significant correlation between the molecular signature and biological response is revealed by Pearson's correlation test (13). Increased levels of ESR1, MAPK1/3, MEK, TYK2, FASN, and GRB7, which are primarily linked to cell proliferation, are proteins whose expression are closely correlated with such a medication response. Up-regulated expression of SFN, CAV2, GRB2, RB1, and FLNA shows a drug resistance (13). Thus, it can be inferred from research on cell lines with high levels of HER2 expression that MAPK signaling predicts the response to Herceptin, whereas Herceptin resistance is linked to the mTOR pathway, Toll-like receptor pathway, N-glycan production, and inositol-phosphate signaling (13).

1.2.3. Triple negative breast cancer cell lines

According to their name, triple negative cell lines exhibit low or no expression of all three ER-PR-HER2-related markers. It is the most diverse subtype, and basal A and basal B cell lines are common names for it in many publications. Triple negative A (basal A) lines are known as basal-like because they are enriched in basal markers such as cytokeratins (KRT4/5/6A/6B/13/14/15/16/17), integrins (ITGA6, ITGB4/6), LAMB3, LAMC2, TRIM29, S100A2, SLPI, ANXA8, COL17A1, BNC1, CD10/14/58/59, MET, LYN, CD133, GABRK, VTCN1, BST2, FABP7; exhibiting similarity with core basal tumor subtype (3, 14, 15). The mesenchymal cluster or normal-like/claudin-low triple negative B (basal B) lines overexpress

genes linked to tumor invasive and aggressive characteristics, including VIM, MSN, PLAT, TGFB1, TGFBR2, AXL, COL3A1, COL6A1/2/3, MMP2/14, TIMP1, CTSC, PLAU, PLAUR, SERPINE1/2, SPARC, FN1, FBN1, HAS2, and PRG1 (13-15), Collagens (COL3A1, COL6A1/2/3, COL8A1), proteases (MMP2/14, TIMP1, CTSC, PLAU, PLAUR, SERPINE1/2, PLAT), and proteins stabilizing cytoskeletal interactions (VIM, MSN) are significant contributors to the remodeling of the extracellular matrix necessary for cell migration, and signaling factors (TGFB1, TGFBR2, AXL) play a critical role in mediating such aggressive morphology(4).

Triple negative cell line characterization at the translational level uses a specific panel of proteins (EGFR, CAV1/2, MSN, ETS1) that, when combined with basal keratins (KRT5/6), CD10, and MET, characterize triple negative A cells and, when combined with the stemness marker CD44, identify triple negative B cells (14). Triple negative B cells have a more mesenchymal-like look and are more likely to invade. Triple negative A cells, a somewhat more developed subgroup within triple negative cell lines, can have either luminal-like or basal-like morphologies (4). Due to their abundance in epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) and stem-cell markers, triple negative B cells can be utilized to represent claudin-low or metaplastic breast cancer, while triple negative A lines largely match the core basal tumor subtype as shown by basal markers (16). In damage, response to DNA the protein encoded by BRCA1 forms the Rap80/Abraxas/Brca1/Brcc36 complex (17). Hereditary breast cancer, which also resembles sporadic core basal tumors, is predisposed by a mutation in this gene (18-20). The majority of the currently available BRCA1 mutant commercial breast cancer cell lines (HCC1937, MDAMB436,

SUM149PT, HCC3153) fall within the category of triple negative A lines, with the exception of SUM1315MO2 (15).



Figure 1.1. Female global prevalence of breast cancer by subtypes in 2015-2019. As shown, Luminal A (HR+/HER2-) subtype was the most common subtype of breast cancer in women (Source: National cancer institute)

1.3. Markers overexpressed in breast cancer

1.3.1. EpCAM

EpCAM is a type I transmembrane glycoprotein with a Mr of 40,000 that has two extracellular domains that resemble those of epidermal growth factor, a cysteine-poor region, a transmembrane domain, and a brief cytoplasmic tail; encoded by GA733-2 gene on the long arm of chromosome 4 (21). EpCAM has been referred to by a number of different names, including those connected to monoclonal antibodies that are specific for the cell surface antigen (MH99, AUA1, MOC31, 323/A3, KS1/4, and HEA125) and cDNA clones that were used to characterize the antigen [KS 1/4, EGP, EGP40, and GA733-2 (21)]. The name EpCAM, which more accurately

describes its function and tissue specificity, was first proposed by Litvinov et al. (22, 23). With the exception of the adult squamous epithelium and some epithelium-derived cells, including hepatocytes, epidermal keratinocytes, gastric parietal cells, myoepithelial cells, and thymic cortical epithelium, EpCAM is found at the basolateral membrane of the majority of epithelial tissues (all simple, pseudo-stratified, and transitional epithelia) (24, 25). However, during active cell proliferation, whether normal or cancerous, various cell types can also be seen to express EpCAM de novo (21). EpCAM's overexpression by the majority of human epithelial carcinomas, including colorectal, breast, prostate, head and neck, and hepatic carcinomas, is particularly intriguing. Because of this, EpCAM has received significant attention as a target for monoclonal antibody-based immunotherapy to treat a variety of cancers, most notably colorectal carcinoma. In fact, the administration of the EpCAM-specific monoclonal antibody has been effective in boosting disease-free survival in patients with minimally recurrent colon and breast cancer. These antibodies help kill tumor cells by triggering a variety of natural cytotoxic processes, including as antibody-dependent complement-mediated cytotoxicity (21).

EpCAM is a target of monoclonal antibody-based immunotherapy, and data suggests that its expression levels are correlated with proliferative activity and play a role in the development of neoplasms. In fact, poor disease-free and overall survival are linked to EpCAM overexpression in primary breast tumors. These findings imply that EpCAM is a viable target for molecular therapy and that more research is necessary (21).

1.3.2. Vimentin

The 57 KD type III intermediate filament protein known as vimentin is crucial for the mobility and deformation of tumor cells. It preserves the integrity of cells and tissues and is present during mesenchymal cell development in diverse tissues (26). The conventional MAPK signaling

system, which regulates numerous cellular functions (including proliferation, survival, differentiation, and motility), includes the MEK/Erk1/2 pathway, which is typically active in human malignancies (27).

Vimentin is extensively involved in a variety of physiological processes and is crucial for controlling how cells behave (28). Vimentin keeps cells' regular morphologies and has anchoring actions in the organelles and nucleus (29). It is involved in cell migration, differentiation, proliferation, adhesion, and invasion at the cellular level (29, 30). Vimentin is highly expressed in cells with remarkable motility, according to studies done on mouse embryos (31). Vimentin contributes to the growth of the mammary gland, the neurological system, and angiogenesis in terms of organ function. This molecule has been shown in numerous studies to control the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), which has an impact on a variety of physiological and pathological processes, including growth and wound healing (32). Vimentin is strongly linked to the occurrence and growth of tumors through modifying the EMT, which is supported by a growing body of evidence (33, 34).

The level of vimentin expression is strongly correlated with the development of cancer, according to numerous lines of evidence. Vimentin was identified by immunohistochemical detection in 145 of 295 patients with non-small cell lung cancer. It was largely expressed in highly invasive tissues, particularly in cells at the junction. Vimentin expression was highly connected with the metastasis of non-small cell lung cancer, according to the follow-up results of 193 patients (35). Vimentin expression predicts shorter overall survival, worse disease-free survival, and more severe lymph node metastases, according to a meta-analysis of 1,969 colorectal cancer patients (36). Additionally, vimentin is known to be methylated during the growth of colon cancer, and the detection of vimentin methylation in feces can help diagnose colorectal cancer (36). By interacting

with vimentin, osteopontin causes EMT and shortens the overall survival of hepatocellular cancer patients (37). Additionally, it has been discovered that the effects of osteopontin on hepatocellular cancer are completely eliminated by the knockout of vimentin residues 246 to 406 (37). Circulating tumor cells (CTCs), which circulate in the peripheral blood, have made significant advancements in the detection and monitoring of early cancers. The sensitivity and specificity of CTCs are lessened in clinical applications due to the lack of a specialized technique that may be employed to acquire circulating cells. The detection of CTCs is improved by detecting vimentin on their surface (38). According to these findings, vimentin is a potential tumor marker and therapeutic target and plays a significant regulatory role in numerous types of cancers (28).

1.3.3. Ki67

In Hodgkin lymphoma cell nuclei, ki-67 was first discovered as an antigen that is substantially expressed in cycling cells but markedly down-regulated in dormant G0 cells (39). Due to this property, Ki-67 has gained clinical significance as a proliferation marker for classifying a variety of malignancies (40), and its prognostic significance has been well-established in big investigations (41-44). Even though Ki-67 has a lengthy history of therapeutic use, its molecular functions have received far less research. An earlier description of Ki-67 localization found a nuclear protein in human cells that were proliferating (39). Additionally, research on peripheral mononuclear blood leukocytes (PBL) induced by phytohemagglutinin (PHA) revealed that G0 phase cells were negative for the Ki-67 antigen (45). We now understand that the cell cycle regulates the MKI67 gene promoter, which contains binding sites for the canonical G1-regulatory E2F family of transcription factors, and that Ki-67 mRNA levels rise during G1 phase (46, 47). Additionally, during G1, the ubiquitin proteasome complex APC/C-Cdh1 degrades the Ki-67 protein (47, 48). As a result, two competing systems regulate the levels of the protein Ki-67 in G1.

Additionally, cells in the early stages of cell cycle arrest contain modest amounts of Ki-67, which can persist after reentering the cell cycle, in contrast to severely quiescent or senescent cells (47). Thus, a small difference in the level of quiescence can lead to variations in Ki-67 levels in the initial G1 phase after cell cycle re-entry, which is probably what led to variations in the results of various experiments (45, 47, 49).

Recent significant discoveries have been made as a result of the increased interest in the functions of the Ki-67 protein. Ki-67 has numerous molecular roles that vary depending on the type of cell and are associated to various cell cycle stages. The perichromosomal layer, which makes up about one-third of the mass of mitotic chromosomes, is formed during mitosis and is coated with Ki-67, which coats the surface of chromosomes (50, 51). Because it is a component of the PCL, Ki-67's large net positive charge prevents mitotic chromosomes from adhering to one another (52). Additionally, new research suggests that the cohesin and ki-67 complexes each contribute differently to the structural integrity of mitotic chromosomes, as co-depletion of both proteins results in the formation of an amorphous "slime ball" of chromosomes (53). Therefore, there is a great deal of interest in learning the specifics of how Ki-67, as the foundation for creating the PCL, contributes to the shape of mitotic chromosomes (54).

After mitosis, perinucleolar heterochromatin is covered by Ki-67, which then relocalizes to the nucleolar periphery. The largest non-membrane-bound subnuclear structures are nucleoli (54). Research shows that the internal architecture of nucleoli depends on liquid-liquid phase separation in both Xenopus oocyte nuclei and Drosophila embryos (55). The topic of whether Ki-67 functions as a surfactant in the nucleolus' organization and whether this may help explain Ki-67's function in arranging heterochromatin surrounding the nucleolus is raised by this (46, 56, 57). Furthermore, it is unknown if there are unanticipated details about this activity because NAD

relocalization in response to Ki-67 loss has not been the subject of a thorough examination. The sensitivities of any NAD connections to the G1/S checkpoint status of the cells under study will be of special interest (54).

1.3.4. CK19

A unique epithelial cytoskeleton marker called cytokeratin-19 (CK19) is highly expressed in epithelial malignancies, and its expression is particularly tissue-specific in breast cancer. It may be a reliable diagnostic marker for finding tumor cells in cancer patients' peripheral blood (58, 59). CK19 was employed as a marker in numerous studies to find cancer cells in lymph nodes, peripheral blood, and bone marrow (59-61). Additionally, the CK19 marker is regarded as a standalone prognostic predictor in cancer patients (62). Reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) approaches based on RNA can produce high diagnostic sensitivity that can be helpful to track the development of disease by detecting specific epithelial marker mRNA transcripts (60).

The cytoskeletal protein cytokeratin-19 (CK-19), which is found in both healthy and cancerous epithelial cells, has been widely utilized to identify breast cancer cells in mesenchymal tissues. It appears to be the most accurate tumor marker for both patients with operable and metastatic breast cancer (60).

1.3.5. E-cadherin

The type I cadherin family is made up of transmembrane glycoproteins that attach to different cell types and are essential for the normal morphogenesis and development of animal tissues (63-66). On chromosome 16q22.1, the E-cadherin gene (CDH1), which is around 100 kb long, is located (63). The gene region consists of 16 exons that range in size from 115 to 2245 bp and are separated by a total of 15 introns (63). Comparing the human CDH1 exon borders in various species and cadherin types found notable splice site conservation, suggesting gene

duplication or conversion during the coevolution of cadherin types (63). The protein called Ecadherin, which forms adherens junctions and joins epithelial cells together, was first identified by Takeichi in 1977 (67). Its related cadherin family members were subsequently identified, and they exhibit distinct temporal and geographical patterns of expression (68).

A precursor polypeptide of 135 kDa, encoded by the CDH1 gene, is translated into the Ecadherin protein. The precursor segment has the consensus protease cleavage site (Arg-Arg-Gln-Lys-Arg), which makes it easier to process the precursor segment's proteolytically into a fully developed and functioning protein with sticky characteristics (63). A 120 kDa, Ca2+-dependent transmembrane glycoprotein known as mature E-cadherin links polarized and unpolarized epithelial cells at the lateral surface via AJs (69). E-cadherin has five extracellular cadherin domains in its amino terminus, which are where its adhesive action is located and where Ca2+ ions bind (70). The extracellular domain is thus made stiffer by Ca2+ ions binding (71), which increases protease resistance (72). The three-dimensional domain swapping that is at the heart of Ehomophilic cadherin's trans dimer formation across apposed cells plays a crucial role in the stiffening of the extracellular domain. Because the majority of solid tumors are carcinomas that develop from epithelial tissue, E-cadherin plays a critical role in epithelial cell adhesion and the loss of its function is a significant contribution to the advancement of cancer (73). The hallmark of a cellular process known as epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), frequently linked to the development of cancer, has been observed to be diminished E-cadherin expression (63). However, some scientists assert that the loss of E-cadherin is only incidental to EMT and that its expression level may even be controlled by the EMT process itself through downstream epigenetic silencing (74). As a result, they argue that the loss of E-cadherin is insufficient to cause EMT (75). Even so,

deletion or reduction of E-cadherin expression has repeatedly been linked to poor prognosis and poor overall survival of cancers such breast cancer, colon cancer, and gastric cancer (76, 77).

1.3.6. N-cadherin

The calcium-dependent adhesion molecule family of traditional cadherins, which includes N-cadherin, directly mediates both homotypic and heterotypic cell-cell attachment. N-cadherin is a type I cadherin that has five extracellular domains connected to an intracellular domain that is functional. A tryptophan residue side-chain on an N-cadherin monomer's first extracellular domain (EC1) is reciprocally inserted into the hydrophobic pocket of the partner N-cadherin EC1 to form an engagement between the monomers on opposing cells (trans adhesion). Additionally, the His-Ala-Val (HAV) motif on EC1 and a recognition sequence on the second extracellular domain (EC2) of the lateral N-cadherin monomer (cis adhesion) are required for the clustering of adjacent monomers on the surface of the same cell in order to stabilize N-cadherin-mediated adhesion (71, 78, 79). P120 catenin, which localizes N-cadherin to cholesterol-rich microdomains, is necessary for its membrane expression and lateral clustering (80, 81). When N-cadherin extracellular domains are initially ligated, Rac, a member of the Rho GTPase family, is activated. Rac then promotes localized actin filament assembly and the development of membrane protrusions at cellcell contacts (82, 83). By causing -catenin to be sequestered to the cadherin intracellular domain, the subsequent activation of the Rho GTPase family member RhoA, at the expense of Rac activity, promotes the maturation of N-cadherin-based cell-cell junctions (84, 85). The connection between -catenin and -catenin, which builds up at developing cell-cell junctions and inhibits actin branching, is crucial. Additionally, via actin-binding proteins like cortactin and -actinin, -catenin makes it easier for the N-cadherin-catenin complex to be anchored to the actin cytoskeleton, encouraging the maturation of cell-cell interactions (86, 87). Notably, post-translational changes

of the N-cadherin-catenin complex control the adhesive activity of N-cadherin. For instance, the phosphorylation status of N-cadherin and the accompanying catenins, which is regulated by tyrosine kinases, such as Fer and Src, and the tyrosine phosphatase PTP1B, is strongly dependent on the stability of the N-cadherin-catenin complex (88, 89). Additionally, N-cadherin EC2 and the third extracellular domain's branching N-glycosylation regulate N-cadherin-dependent cell adhesion, at least in part, by regulating the lateral clustering of N-cadherin monomers (90).

1.4. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT)

The phenotypic change known as epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is connected to metastasis(91, 92). Developmental biologists initially characterized EMT as a morphological change that took place at particular locations in embryonic epithelia to give rise to distinct migratory cells, but similar findings have been made between developmental EMT and cancer metastasis. Epithelial cells undergo EMT processes in which they acquire mesenchymal characteristics, exhibit decreased intercellular adhesion and increased motility, and are also capable of penetrating the basal membrane and migrating over great distances as a result of significant changes to their cytoskeleton architecture (91, 93, 94).

EMT has been divided into three categories based on the biological context (91, 94, 95). Type 1 EMT includes the development of the embryo. Organ fibrosis, tissue regeneration, and type 2 EMT are all connected. When epithelial cancer cells undergo type 3 EMT, the malignancy progresses and metastasizes. Although the three basic forms of EMT represent very distinct biological processes, several genetic components and regulatory systems have remained relatively untouched. It implies that the embryonic EMT mechanism is hijacked by tumor cells for metastasis. A deeper comprehension of EMT regulation in the metastatic cascade will result in the development of novel targeted therapy methods because metastatic breast cancer is generally regarded as an incurable illness. Numerous in vitro and in vivo investigations have shown the importance of EMT in breast cancer (96, 97).

Loss of expression of the important epithelial cell-cell adhesion protein E-cadherin is one of the characteristics of EMT. E-cadherin functions as a guardian of the epithelial phenotype by assisting in the formation of epithelial cell sheets and preserving the quiescence of the cells inside them (98). Numerous signaling pathways have been connected to the control of EMT. The Snail/Slug family, Twist, EF1/ZEB1, SIP1/ZEB2, and E12/E47 are a few transcription factors that respond to various microenvironmental stimuli and serve as master molecular switches for the EMT program (99). These transcriptional factors have the ability to connect to the so-called E-Box at the E-cadherin promoter, which will then attract transcriptional corepressors and histone deacetylases for the silencing of E-cadherin (100). The most extensively researched effector of Ecadherin suppression and EMT is the snail. It was initially discovered to play a crucial role during EMT in mammalian cells after being initially identified in Drosophila as a repressor of the transcription of shotgun (an E-cadherin homologue) to govern embryogenesis (101-103). Snail increases the expression of genes linked to a mesenchymal and invasive phenotype16 in addition to repressing the expression of E-cadherin and other epithelial components like as claudins, occludins, and mucin-1. Invasive breast cancer cells with high levels of Snail expression were seen in both epithelial and endothelial cells (99, 104). In individuals with breast cancer, it has been connected to tumor grade, metastasis, recurrence, and a poor prognosis(104-106). Additionally, to coordinate the regulation, Snail family proteins work with other transcription factors, such as Twist and ZEB1 (99).

1.5. Breast cancer research tools: Cell lines

Cell lines serve as models for the study of cancer biology and linking genetic variations to drug response can aid in comprehending the response of cancer patients to treatment (110). To

correlate the genomic and pharmacologic characteristics of cell lines, various massive databases have been produced. The first of these databases was the NCI-60, a pharmacological screening of sixty cancer cell lines (111). Later, genetic characteristics of these cell lines were defined, and CellMiner was populated with all NCI-60-related data (112). Targeted analysis of a panel of breast cancer cell lines has shown the pathways and processes directly influenced by anticancer drugs (113, 114). Additional pharmacogenomics datasets, including the Connectivity Map (115), Genomics of Drug Sensitivity in Cancer (116), the Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia (117), and the Cancer Therapeutics Response Portal (118) have increased the number of cell lines, drugs, and cancer types. These works have resulted in advancements in our understanding of the cellular response to medications and have provided the data essential to construct prediction algorithms that try to correlate the response with genomic characteristics (110).

Despite the widespread use of cancer cell line models, the same question has persisted since the isolation of the first cell lines in the 1950s: to what extent do in vitro cell line models replicate the biological mechanisms underlying in vivo illness and therapeutic response? Are tumor-derived cell lines representative genomic models of in vivo disease progression and treatment response? In vitro research based on established tumor cell lines continue to serve as the foundation for designing effective in vivo and translational clinical studies (114). Several known breast cancer cell lines, representative of the various mammary tumor subtypes (115), are available and are frequently used to study breast cancer heterogeneity as well as breast cancer susceptibility to various medications or to uncover novel possible pharmacological targets (116). Thus, the availability of additional appropriate cellular models may significantly improve our understanding of the molecular heterogeneity of breast cancer, the discovery of new biomarkers useful for predicting drug response or for use as drug targets, and our overall understanding of breast cancer (110).

Collections of tumor-derived cell lines are widely employed as models in cancer research because they contain hundreds to thousands of mutations that originated in the tumor from which they were produced. Numerous biological processes are studied using cancer cell lines, which have also been extensively utilized in pharmacogenomics research (110). Recent research by Sharma and colleagues examined the benefits and drawbacks of cell lines as a platform for drug screening (119). Since the publication of this study, genomic measures for hundreds of cancer cell lines have become accessible, and these data present fresh opportunity to correlate genomic profiles to therapy response (110).

1.6. Primary cell cultures for personalized therapy

Massive improvements in the understanding of cancer biology have resulted in a significant investment in drug research in the era of cutting-edge technologies. However, the clinical success of these new target medications has been restricted due to their high toxicity or ineffectiveness. For these reasons, it is essential to develop fresh high-throughput screening models for testing new medications in preclinical research in order to convey the results from the laboratory to the clinic. Since the 1970s, the approach for anticancer drug screening has been refined, and both in vitro and in vivo models have been utilized. For many years, tumor cell lines were the primary drug screening models; nevertheless, they have significant limitations and low clinical predictive ability. Other approaches that more closely match a patient's tumor, such as patient-derived xenografts (PDXs), circulating tumor cells (CTCs), and primary cancer cell cultures, have grown more appealing and effective. PDX is an in vivo model that preserves the majority of the complexity and heterogeneity of the original tumor (120, 121).

However, engraftment efficiency is dependent on the aggressiveness of the tumor and might be affected by the mice model in question. This model's limitations for drug screening and tailored therapy include the lengthy period required for engraftment and cost-effectiveness problems (122-124). CTCs represent a metastatic stage and are appropriate for studying molecular alterations arising from the initial tumor to the metastasis. Poor yield and purity are the primary limitations of using CTCs for individualized therapy at now (125).

A number of primary ovarian cancer cell cultures were created by Kar et al. using the ascitic fluid of the corresponding patients. Ovarian cancer cells that had undergone four to six passages were devoid of fibroblasts and used to test how paclitaxel, carboplatin, and curcumin affected their behavior. Upon treatment with the individual medicines, each primary culture displayed a variable percentage of apoptotic cells; however, combination trials revealed greater efficiency. For instance, the inclusion of curcumin boosted apoptosis to 45% while the combination of carboplatin and paclitaxel improved the average percent from 14% (individual therapies) to 22%. Primary cultures revealed the vast range of responses to particular medications, which likely resulted from various tumors' molecular profiles. This demonstrates how primary ovarian cell cultures have the potential to be used for customized therapy (126).

Kodack et al., attempted to establish primary cancer cell lines for 568 patient tissues representing a range of tumor forms and sources. With a 26% success rate on average, most of the established cell lines belonged to lung cancer. The rate of pleural effusions was higher (42%) than the rate of core biopsies (23%). A low concentration of cancer cells in the patient specimens, followed by stromal fibroblast expansion, was the primary factor in the failure to initiate cell culture. Since fibroblasts often react more quickly to cell detachment, it was proposed that these challenges could be overcome by microscopic monitoring and differential trypsinization.

Additionally, they found out that a culture system containing irradiated fibroblast feeder cells and medium with a specific composition (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium, F-12, FBS, endothelial growth factor (EGF), insulin, adenine, hydrocortisone, cholera toxin, and Rhoassociated protein kinase inhibitor) was more efficient than conventional growth media for producing primary cell lines from needle biopsies (77% Further research revealed that cancer cells of epithelial origin can be recognized by their expression of cytokeratin 8 (CK8) and cytokeratin 18 (CK18), including cells with epithelial to mesenchymal transition. They went on to develop an immunofluorescence assay for cell viability applicable to biopsy cultures in the presence of stromal cells. Breast, bladder, colorectal, and pancreatic cancer cells could all be recognized by CK8/CK18, as well as NSCLC and squamous cell lung carcinoma. The antibody combination could replicate the dose-response curves of pure cancer cells created using an MTS-metabolic viability assay but did not stain human fibroblasts. The same outcomes were observed when irradiated feeder fibroblasts were cocultured with cancer cells. The development of the primary cultures can be slowed down by the requirement to remove EGF and insulin from the medium composition in order to preserve the response to EGFR and ALK tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Tyrosine kinase inhibitor sensitivity of the NSCLC biopsy cultures was discovered to be compatible with the patients' response (127).

1.7. Long-established breast cancer cell lines

In addition to MCF-7, which was generated in 1973 from a pleural effusion at the Michigan Cancer Foundation (128) and is the most extensively used breast cancer cell line in the world, a variety of other cell lines are routinely employed as breast cancer models. The majority of the long-established breast cancer cell lines in use today are not generated from primary breast tumors, but rather from tumor metastases, such as aspirates or pleural effusions (128). This indicates that the vast majority of these cell lines are produced from more aggressive and frequently metastatic

tumors, as opposed to the primary lesion. This is manifestly unrepresentative of the many forms of tumor, which are reflected by the unique types, grades or stages, and progression indicators identified in primary breast cancer. Thus, research based on such lines will be biased toward more rapidly progressing kinds of breast carcinoma and late-stage disease, as opposed to low-grade and early-stage breast malignancies. For these reasons, it would be more clinically meaningful to employ cells that are directly produced from a primary tumor, especially since the majority of pharmacological regimens target these cells (128).

1.8. Recently established breast cancer cell lines

A number of unique breast cancer cell lines have been developed and characterized over the past few years (129-132). Several of these have the benefit of being established from the primary lesion rather than a distant metastasis. The establishment of these new lines has been a time-consuming and patient endeavor, with the majority requiring several months to achieve the accepted standards for a continuous cell line. This includes changed cytomorphology, enhanced growth, decreased serum dependence, increased clonogenicity, a trend toward anchorageindependent growth, ploidy alterations, tumorigenicity in nude mice, and an unlimited lifespan (128).

Two studies have compared the characteristics of newly created breast cancer cell lines to those of the tumor from whence the cell lines were extracted (131, 132). Considerable consistency was obtained with regard to morphology (87%), immunohistochemical examination of estrogen and progesterone receptors (87% and 73%, respectively), HER2/neu (93%), p53 (100%) and allelic loss (82–100%). A related study (133) utilized comparative genomic hybridization to identify recurrent genetic changes in 38 breast cancer cell lines and the degree to which these cell lines resembled uncultured tumors. In addition to more recently created cell lines, this investigation includes some of the cell lines listed in Table 1 that have a lengthy history of use. The most frequent

chromosomal gains were found in 1p, 1q, 3q, 5p, 7p, 7q, 8q, 17q, 20p, and 20p, whereas the most frequent chromosomal losses were observed in 1p, 4p, 8p, 10q, 11q, 18p, 18q, 19p, Xp, and Xq. There was an average of 19 genetic changes, with nine losses and ten gains per cell line, which is 2.5 more per cell line than in tumors; however, the most prominent modifications remained the same.

Several high-level amplifications were also identified in breast tumor cell lines that had previously been described. Although multiple recurring and high-level amplifications were detected in these cell lines, some of which have also been found in uncultured breast malignancies (such as 1q32, 8p11, 8q23, 11q13, 17q23, 17q24, and 20q13), the majority of amplification sites were novel (e.g. 1p13, 7q21, 7q31, 9p23 and 11p13). These may be alterations linked with in vitro culture. Although there were no direct comparisons between chromosomal modifications in traditional and newly developed cell lines, the 10 most strongly elevated genes were detected in three of the former (MCF-7, SKBr3, and ZR75.1wt) and just one of the latter (SUM52). Notably, SUM52 was isolated from pleural effusion rather than a primary breast tumor (134). Another study (135) employed comparative genomic hybridization to discover chromosomal alterations in a panel of eleven novel and well-characterized breast cancer cell lines derived from original tumors. This demonstrated repeated chromosomal gains at 1q, 3q, and 8q. These results align with those found in fresh tumor tissue (136). Thus, these more recently developed cell lines may be more typical of breast cancer as a whole, as they can represent a variety of tumor kinds, grades, and stages. Clearly, these new cell lines are intriguing models, and because some of them have been deposited in reputable cell banks (such as the American Type Culture Collection; http://www.atcc.org), they are now widely accessible to breast cancer researchers (128).

1.9. Primary cell culture

Developing primary cultures obtained directly from tumors is a feasible alternative to employing cell lines, whether they are classic or newly developed. This provides a variety of benefits. Not only are cells isolated directly from the tumor location, but complete pathology is also provided to compare the properties of the culture to those of the original tumor. In general, such cultures can be created either as explants, in which mixed cell populations develop from small tissue fragments, or as enriched populations of specific cell types, the latter of which is preferable (128).

1.10. Explant culture

Early attempts at primary culture of breast tumors were unsuccessful due to the expansion of epithelial cells and stromal fibroblasts, which have been aptly described as "weeds in the tissue culture garden". Rapidly multiplying and outgrowing their slower epithelial neighbors, fibroblasts quickly adapt to in vitro settings. This is a particular issue with explants, thus scientists have resorted to isolating enriched populations of specific cell types to address the issue (128).

1.11. Culture of individual cells

The simplest of these techniques is the spillage approach, which was first described more than four decades ago (128). This entails slicing the tumor and collecting the cells that fall off the sliced surface. McCallum and Lowther (130) have utilized this technique successfully in recent years to produce 10 novel cell lines from 135 unselected primary breast tumors. The majority of other documented procedures rely on enzymatic dissemination of tumor pieces after mechanical disaggregation. A partial enzymatic breakdown of tumor stroma for up to six hours has been described (137), which allows for the enrichment and proliferation of breast epithelial cells in vitro. Approximately 66% of samples had tumor epithelial cells with the ability to proliferate. The same group described a sandwich culture (138) in which dissociated breast tumor cells are sandwiched between two microscope slides made of glass. The slides are submerged in culture media, which fills the space between them to generate a diffusion gradient for oxygen, nutrients, and metabolic wastes. Under these conditions, only malignant cells can survive, exhibiting the cytokeratin (CK) profile of lumenal epithelia, with CK7, 8, 18, and 19 predominating and CK4 and 5 being absent (138).

Other strategies for cell separation hinge on the varying sedimentation rates of cells of different sizes and involve differential centrifugation. This is performed after enzymatic dispersal of tissue fragments, with collagenase III being the most effective (139). This technique, initially described by Emerman and Wilkinson (140) and updated and enhanced by Burdall et al. (128), is a robust technique for short-term culture of epithelial-enriched cells. This technique permits the multiplication of significant amounts of cells with a specified phenotype for further cell and molecular biology research (141-143). The tissue digest yields three distinct fractions, named organoid, epithelial, and stromal. The organoid fraction is comprised of minute fragments of partially digested tissue, from which cell expansion is detected. Due to the heterogeneous nature of this population, which contains both epithelial and fibroblast cells, the fibroblasts may overrun the epithelial cells if no precautions are taken. This is accomplished by using a well-defined, serum-free baseline medium. As with explant cultures, this percentage has the potential to generate a population of rapidly reproducing genetically normal cells (141, 144). The epithelial fraction is composed primarily of single cells with the characteristic cobblestone appearance of epithelial cells. These cells can be grown selectively with increasing time on selective media and have been described by immunohistochemical, biochemical, and molecular biology techniques, as well as flow cytometry (141, 142). When cultured in conditions supplemented with heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum, the fibroblast fraction produces cells with the bipolar spindle form characteristic of fibroblasts. These cells have also been characterized using the procedures described above (141-143).

1.12. Pros and cons of breast cancer primary culture

Utilizing enhanced primary cultures offers numerous advantages. In other instances, cells are maintained in culture for a finite period of time, and they have little opportunity to undergo the alterations observed in immortalized cell lines cultured for extended periods. Because the cell–cell interactions that exist in tissue are lost in vitro, it is possible that cells isolated from a breast tumor may react differently in culture compared to their response when they are part of a tissue/organ (128).

Primary culture has constraints. These include delayed population doubling rates and the short lifespan prior to senescence; frequently, only two or three cell passes will survive. For certain experimental approaches, a large number of cells is required, which is sometimes a limiting constraint because this is frequently not possible until after multiple passes. As measured by a rise in initial cell production and the capacity to undergo a greater number of passes without detectable phenotypic change, cells maintained in the later medium appear to have a higher growth rate and longer lifespan (128). Moreover, for certain tumors, such as infiltrating grade I ductal carcinomas and tubular carcinomas, in which mitotic activity is never or rarely observed in whole sections, it is likely that even the use of an enrichment technique will not provide an appropriate in vitro model due to the extended doubling times (128).

Because tumors are heterogeneous, scientists attempting to generate cultures of breast tumor epithelial cells face the possibility of contamination by normal epithelial cells. There is no phenotypic difference between cultivated tumor and normal epithelium, with the former being simple to culture, even from tumors (130). Since tumors are formed from lumenal epithelium, immunopositivity for cytokeratin CK7, 8, 18 and 19 (145) is frequently used to differentiate tumor from normal. In this regard, CK19 has shown to be very popular (138, 141, 143). However, culture circumstances can selectively impact cell phenotypic, and even normal mammary epithelial cells can express CK19 in vitro (130, 146). Consequently, for tests conducted on low-passage CK19+ cells thought to be tumor cells, other, more strong markers (such as telomerase) are required (147). *1.12.1. Ethical approval and tissue availability*

Prior to considering the use of human clinical material for research, it is necessary to address the problem of patient consent, which is now rigorously regulated in the United Kingdom as a result of the Redfern report on organ retention (128). For therapeutic purposes, surgery always removes more tissue than is required for diagnosis; frequently, excess tumor tissue is left over after diagnosis and staging. In the past, it was reasonably easy to collect this material from a cooperative breast surgeon and/or pathologist under the assumption of implicit agreement, but today, explicit patient approval must always be obtained. To ensure the success of this project, the most macroscopically representative portion of the tumor must be obtained with the assistance of an enthusiastic pathologist who is willing to collaborate. Priority must be given to pathology diagnosis, and as a result, scientists are frequently left with decreasing amounts of tumor for investigation. This is not a concern, however, because viable tumor cells may be successfully identified and amplified from a fine needle aspirate (148).

1.13. Novel applications of primary culture for translational research

There is a massive pressure on scientists to limit or eliminate the use of animals in laboratory research, and primary cell culture may be a viable alternative, particularly in preclinical drug testing. Predicting how patients will respond to chemotherapy treatments is another hot topic. In the latest extreme drug resistance experiment, live tumor specimens are cultured in agarose for five days in the presence of chemotherapeutic medicines (149). In the final 48 hours, tritiated thymidine is added, and liquid scintillation counting determines the amount of radioactive label
that has been integrated (indicative of cell proliferation). This technique was recently tested on breast tumors. The approach was most effective when tumors were greater than 1 g, of high grade, from younger patients, and lacking progesterone receptor expression (150). Overall, 70% of analyzed samples offered information on chemotherapy resistance, suggesting that in vitro results could be used to guide the selection of the most appropriate adjuvant therapy (128).

A comparable method is the 3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium (MTT) assay, in which dissected tumor samples of approximately 1mm are cultured with chemotherapeutic medicines at concentrations intended to replicate the plasma levels attained in vivo (151). On the basis of the MTT-to-formazan product conversion, the 50% inhibitory concentration is then estimated. With the inevitable development of tumor-specific medications that are tailored to patient requirements, appropriateness, and gene profile, breast cancer will be viewed in the future as a patient-specific entity rather than a single disease. Conventionally, tumor-derived cell lines are obtained using immortalization methods, which may result in the selection of subpopulations with changed phenotypes that are no longer indicative of the original cancer tissue (152).

Ex vivo culture of fresh patient tumor tissue or establishment of patient-derived xenografts (PDX) in mice yields models that closely reflect the heterogeneity and medication response of patient tumors (153). Previously, a group of scientists have developed several breast cancer PDX models using primary breast cancer patient tumors obtained through the BEAUTY (154, 155). Using these PDX models has allowed for coming up with novel pharmacogenomic biomarkers associated with a variety of treatments (155, 156). However, the maintenance costs and lengthy turnaround time required to manufacture PDX restrict their widespread application in laboratory settings. In contrast, the generation of immortalized primary breast cancer cell lines from PDX

tumors could provide relatively inexpensive tools for mechanistic investigations and the elucidation of alternative therapeutics (157).

The procedure of acquiring immortalized cancer cell lines is intricate and unpredictable (158, 159). The capacity of cancer cells to proliferate on plastic tissue culture plates depends on cancer cell histology, tumor grade, the presence of particular genetic abnormalities, and the provision of adequate nutrition (153). The extensively researched human breast cancer cell lines (MCF-7, T47D, MDA-MB-231, and SKBR-3) were derived from metastatic lesions, making it less probable that they precisely reflect the genetic makeup or biological behavior of original breast tumors (4). While others have successfully produced cell lines from tumors (127, 160), BEAUTY patients only provided biopsies, restricting the number of tumors for in vitro subculture. Cavotelli et al. and Matossian et al. have previously established the benefit of using in vivo methods to create immortalized cell lines (161-163). They hypothesized that sub-culturing tumor biopsies in vivo not only increases the number of tumor cells, but also allows tumors to adapt to their surrounding milieu, ensuring proliferative proliferation and simple passage-traits important to the immortalization of tumor cells (163). When PDX tumors were therefore cultured in a single-cell solution, immortalized cell lines were produced. These instances give the basis for investigating if immortalized cell lines can be derived from primary breast cancer PDX tumors.

Scientists have spent decades attempting to create techniques for growing and analyzing primary cancers and normal cells outside the human body (164, 165). Traditional established cell lines have formed the cornerstone of cell, molecular, and cancer biology until this point. However, the poor success rate (1–10 percent, depending on the tissue of origin and stage of disease progression) impedes the formation of tumor cell lines (166, 167). In addition, the complex heterogeneity of primary tumors is frequently absent from these cell lines, and normal cell lines

from many organs do not exist, restricting the use of these cultures for predicting tumor cell (168).Tumor heterogeneity is detectable both the microscopic responses at (immunohistochemistry) and genetic (DNA mutations and/or RNA expression alterations) levels. Genetic study of original tumor samples has uncovered additional differences within tumor groupings and even the relationship between cancers originating from other tissues (169). Thus, genetic analysis is the foundation of predicting tumor biology and therapy response. Despite the immense promise for using genomic analysis as the basis for patient treatment, it is evident that in vitro and/or quick ex vivo models are the best way to analyze the interplay of genetics, epigenetics, signaling changes, and cell-cell interactions (170).

1.14. Development of the protocol for establishing patient-derived breast cancer cell lines

In contrast to other model systems, this procedure has been shown to facilitate the establishment of patient-derived CR cell cultures from both normal and cancerous tissues that are capable of growing indefinitely without genetic manipulation (171-173). Figure 1.2 summerizes the procedure through which we propagated the patient-derived breast cancer cell lines, emphasizing the tumor dissociation and CR culture approaches. To proliferate epithelial cells, this method employs irradiation mouse fibroblast cells and the Rho-associated kinase (ROCK) inhibitor (Y-27632). Y-27632 was initially found in a caspase/kinase inhibitor library as having the potential to increase the cloning efficiency of human embryonic stem (ES) cells (174) and, in subsequent research, as having the ability to increase the viability of human keratinocyte stem cells (175). When introduced to Green11 keratinocyte/feeder cocultures, Y-27632 can be employed to produce normal and tumor cell cultures in non-keratinocyte tissues (170). It has also been observed that the capacity of feeders and Y-27632 to cause infinite cell proliferation is comparable

to the immortalizing capacity of the HPV-16 E6 and E7 oncogenes. E6 and feeder cells both activate telomerase (172), whereas E7 and Y-27632 both damage the actin cytoskeleton (176) and inactivate Rho (177). The effects of Y-27632 are totally reversible (173), in that CR cultures cease to proliferate or differentiate terminally upon its removal, depending on the culture conditions.



Figure 1.2. Workflow of patient-derived breast cancer cell line establishment. This workflow is based on the Conditional reprogramming technology approach for cell line establishment, in which feeder layer cells are used in co-culture with isolated breast cancer cells in F-media

The rapid induction of CR (within 2 days) is due to reprogramming of the cell population rather than clonal selection (173), as is the case with normal cell lines. In contrast to embryonic stem (ES) and induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells, CR cells from normal tissue do not exhibit large quantities of Sox2, Oct4, Nanog, or Klf4 (173) and do not generate teratomas in mice (172). In addition, CR cells retain their developmental potential and do not require intricate manipulation to differentiate into their originating tissue (171-173). In tumor CR cell cultures, the phenotypic and genotypic characteristics of the source tumor are preserved (172), and the approach was

recently employed to discover an acceptable therapy for pulmonary papillomatosis (178). As stated by independent laboratories, the CR approach can be used for live biobanking (172), fundamental research (179-184), diagnostic (185, 186), therapeutic (184, 187, 188), and regenerative medicine (184, 189, 190) applications.

CHAPTER 2: ESTABLISHMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF PATIENT-DERIVED BREAST CANCER CELL LINES IN 2D CULTURE SYSTEM 2.1. Abstract

Commercial cancer cell lines have long been extensively used as a an important platform to study cancer. They have contributed to a plethora of discoveries in the field of cancer research. However, there are limitations with using these cell lines, such as induced mutations over the longterm in vitro culture. These mutations cause incorrect exhibition of the in vivo characteristics of the cancer cells. Here, we focused on establishing Patient-derived breast cancer cell lines and attempted to characterize them in terms of several biomarkers that are shown to be overexpressed in breast cancer cells. Patient-derived breast cancer cell lines are more reliable tools to study the molecular and cellular processes taking place in vivo, since they are freshly isolated from the tumor biopsy and do not undergo induced immortalization. We explored the CK19, Ki67, vimentin, EpCAM, E-cadherin, and N-cadherin expression in three successfully established patient-derived breast cancer cell lines.

2.2. Introduction

Commercial cancer cell lines have been utilized for a long time in cancer research. One of the key advantages of using cultured cell lines in cancer research is that they provide an infinite supply of a relatively homogeneous, self-replicating cell population in standard cell culture medium (191). However, the long-term culture of these cell lines has led to the acquisition of genetic aberrations which makes them unable to mimic the actual condition that happens in vivo. Many efforts have been made to develop efficiently in vitro culture for a wide variety of cancers, including breast cancer (BC).

The use of 2D cell lines derived from a patient's own tumor has a positive economic outlook and reduces the excessive use of animal models (192). Given that the transcriptomic and

proteomic profiles correspond to the behavior of patient tumors, the use of well-characterized cell lines could facilitate a faster and more efficient screening of drugs (192). The primary limitations, however, include the fact that these 2D cell cultures do not depict or adhere to a number of important cancer biology factors, such as the stromal and matrix components of cancer, among other microenvironment factors (193). Specifically, in the case of generic cell lines, a number of studies have demonstrated that established cancer cell lines contain a greater number of genetic mutations and abnormalities than patient-derived tumors. Developing an efficient and stable 2D culture of patient-derived cancer cells is challenging and needs a lot of effort and time. In addition, in some cases, cancer cells undergo genetic changes due to long-term culture in 2D setting.

The use of patient-derived cell lines is the core component in cancer research, from the biological understanding of cancer cells to the development of new treatments for this disease. Patient-derived cancer models, like cell lines, organoids, and xenografts, are the main elements in cancer research. They allow the screening of the cancer-related gene function and different pathways and validation effectiveness of drugs in cancer treatments. These cells were derived from cancer patients and have been adapted to grow in vitro. The patient-derived biopsied tumor tissues are applied in monolayer (2D culture) for the identification and characterization of cell lines.

Historically, culturing cancer cells from solid tumors has neither been swift nor straightforward. In addition to this difficulty, patients presenting with metastatic disease frequently undergo diagnostic needle biopsies as opposed to surgical resection, and the biopsied material may be sparse. Recent work by Dr. Richard Schlegel and colleagues (170, 172, 173) has established conditions that enable robust and, at times, otherwise unattainable efficiency in culturing cancer cells from surgical or biopsy specimens. Schlegel and colleagues reported "conditional reprogramming" as a method to generate chemo-sensitive cell cultures from normal and malignant

recurrent respiratory papillomatosis cells (178). The chemotherapy that was determined to be the most effective in vitro had a long-lasting cytostatic effect on the patient.

In this recent study, we focused on the establishment and characterization of three BC patient-derived cell lines in monolayer culture and attempted to evaluate the efficacy of monolayer culture system in developing efficient, stable patient-derived breast cancer cell lines.

2.3. Methods

2.3.1. Tumor dissociation

Fresh surgical biopsy samples were collected from breast cancer patients admitted in Sanford hospital. Tumor tissues were transported to the laboratory in cooled-DMEM and immediately dissociated into single cell suspension using both mechanical and enzymatic dissociation. Briefly, mechanical dissociation was done by mincing the tissue via scalpel, followed by mechanical digestion using tumor dissociation kit, human (miltenyi biotec, cat no. 130-095-929), with an incubation time of 1 hour at 37°C with gentle rocking (35rpm). The tube containing single cells and tissue debris was then centrifuged at 200rcf for 5min, aiming to remove the digestion media including enzymes. Single cells were then cultured on 3T3 J2 cells (Mouse embryonic fibroblasts, Kerafast, cat no. EF3003) which were already mitotically arrested by 10µg/ml Mitomycin C (Sigma-Aldrich, cat no. M4287) and seeded in the flask one day before tumor dissociation. F-media, consisted of complete DMEM+ F-12 nutrient mix supplemented by 5 μ g/ml insulin; 250 ng/ml amphotericin B, 10 μ g/ml gentamicin, 0.1 nM cholera toxin, 0.125 ng/ml EGF, 25 ng/ml hydrocortisone, and 10µM ROCK inhibitor, was used to coculture the isolated tumor cells and feeder layer cells. Cells were incubated at 37°C until confluence, with media change every other day.

2.3.2. Arresting Swiss 3T3 J2 cells (MEFs)

Mitomycin C (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat no. M5353) was used in a concentration of $10\mu g/ml$ for 2h at 37°C to arrest MEFs that were grown in a flask and had reached 70% confluency. After treatment with mitomycin C, cells were rinsed 4-5 times with PBS to eliminate the residual Mitomycin C. MEFs were then trypsinized and used for the co-culture with cancer cells in a seeding density of $10^4/cm_2$ surface area.

2.3.3. Trypsinization and maintenance of the culture

Once the flask of cancer cells co-cultured with MEFs reached 70-90% confluency, the MEFs were partially removed by differential trypsinization. Cells were first trypsinized by adding 0.025% trypsin-EDTA solution with incubation at room temperature for 3 minutes and observing the MEF cells detachment under the microscope. Once a significant number of MEFs were detached, the trypsin solution was removed and the flask (which mostly contained the cancer cells) was rinsed with PBS. The cancer cells in early passages were detached from the flask by using 0.25% trypsin-EDTA. After the centrifugation and resuspension of cancer cells, they were seeded in a new flask with arrested MEFs already cultured. The split ratio for maintaining cultures was 1:3 dilution and the seeding density for MEFs in the co-culture was 10⁴ cells/cm² surface area.

2.3.4. Immunocytochemistry

The expression of cytokeratin 19, EpCAM, E cadherin (as epithelial cell markers), Ki-67, vimentin and N cadherin (as EMT markers) were explored in established breast cancer through immunocytochemistry. Table 2.1 lists all the studied markers with their function as well as their location in the cells. Cells were seeded on gelatin-coated round coverslips in 24-well plate and incubated at 37°C for 24 hours for cell attachment. Fixation was done using 4% PFA (15 min at 4°C, followed by permeabilization by 0.1% Triton X-100 (10 min at room temperature). Two-hour

incubation in 5% BSA was done to block the unspecific regions. Primary antibodies were Anticytokeratin 19 antibody ((A53-B/A2): sc-6278, Santa Cruz biotechnology), CD326 (EpCAM) mouse anti-human (Clone: 1B7, eBiosience), Ki-67 Recombinant Rabbit Monoclonal Antibody (Invitrogen, SP6), and Vimentin (D21H3) XP Rabbit mAb. Following overnight incubation with primary antibody, Alexa fluor 546 goat anti-mouse IgG (A11003, Invitrogen) and Cy5 goat antirabbit (A10523, invitrogen) were used as secondary antibodies depending on the host species of primary antibodies. After 1 hour incubation, coverslips were transferred onto slides and mounted using vectashield antifade mounting media with DAPI (H-1200, Vector laboratories) and imaged using fluorescent microscopy.

Table 2.1. The list of different breast cancer biomarkers tested in this study. The function of each marker as well as their location in breast cancer cells.

Marker	Function	Location
CK19	Associated with aggressiveness in	Cytoskeleton marker, cytoplasm
	cancer cells	
Vimentin	Associated with increased	Cytoplasm
	migration/invasion of cancer cells	
EpCAM	Cell-cell adhesion, stimulating or	Cell surface
	inhibiting diverse cancer signaling	
	pathways	
Ki67	Involved in cell proliferation	Nucleus
N-cadherin	Promotes tumor cell survival,	Cell surface
	migration and invasion	
E-cadherin	Cell adhesion, affect tumor	Cell surface
	invasion by inhibiting cell	
	migration away from the epithelial	
	layer	

2.3.5. Quantitative Real-time polymerase chain reactions analysis

Quantitative Real-time PCR was done to explore the relative gene expression of two breast cancer cells markes, CDH1 (E-cadherin) and CDH2 (N-cadherin). The RNA extraction was performed using the Direct-zol RNA MicroPrep Kits (Zymo Research, Irvine, California) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Complementary DNA was produced using the cDNA Synthesis Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) following manufacturer's instructions. qRT-PCR was performed using the PowerUpTM SYBRTM Green Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany) and the QuantStudio 3 (Applied Biosystems) to determine the expression levels of target genes, shown in Table 2.2.

Table 2.2.	Primers u	used for c	PCR
------------	-----------	------------	-----

Gene of interest	Primer name	Sequence 5' - 3'
E-Cadherin	huCDH1 for	CCAAGTGCCTGCTTTTGATGA
	huCDH1 rev	CCCCTACCCCTCAACTAAC
N-Cadherin	huCDH2 for	GACAATGCCCCTCAAGTGTT
	huCDH2 rev	CCATTAAGCCGAGTGATGGT

2.3.6. Estrogen treatment

During the establishment of patient-derived breast cancer cell lines, we noticed that the NT013 cells stopped growing in passage 5. We decided to treat these cells with 1nM estrogen. The rationale behind this is that the NT013 cell line is hormone receptor positive/HER-2 negative, and treatment with estrogen could result in the increased cancer cell's proliferation in this molecular type. Treatment begun at passage 5 and continued for 2 passages.

2.3.7. Statistical analysis

In order to analyze the immunostaining data, the number of cancer cells that were positive for the marker of target were counted for 5 images and devided by the total cell number to obtain the percentage of positive cells. Data were then statistically analyzed via One-way Anova test using GraphPad Prism v.9. For qPCR, we used triplicate and data were analyzed via One-way Anova test using GraphPad Prism v.9. P-value≤0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

2.4. Results

In this study, we attempted to establish and characterize the patient-derived breast cancer cell lines using conditional reprogramming technology. List of patient samples received from Sanford hospital is provided in Table 2.3. Participants of the study were assigned a unique code maintained by Sanford research team. No identification information was shared outside of Sanford. Our research team at NDSU just received the coded tussue along with the unique code. We optimized the tumor dissociation protocol using tumor dissociation kit, human (Miltenyi biotec, Cat no. 130-095-929) which included various enzymes required for obtaining single cell suspension. After dissociation, F-media and Swiss 3T3 J2 cells (as feeder layer cells) were utilized to support the growth and survival of breast cancer cells. After expanding the cultures, these cultures were tested for the presence of key breast cancer biomarkers such as CK19, EpCAM, vimentin, Ki67, E-cadherin, and N-cadherin, to verify the successful establishment of the cancer cell lines.

Table 2.3. List of patient tumor biopsies. Fresh tumor tissues were collected from Sanford hospital after careful histological evaluation and were transferred to the lab in transport media (DMEM 10% FBS, 1X P/S)

Sample ID	Molecular type	Success/failure
NT005	Hormone receptors positive, HER-2 negative	Ongoing expansion of the cells
NT 008	Hormone receptors positive, HER-2 negative	Failure in establishing the cell line. Cells underwent senescence
NT 013	Hormone receptors positive, HER-2 negative	Successfully established
NT 015	Hormone receptors positive, HER-2 negative	Successfully established
Sample ID	Molecular type	Success/failure
NT 017	Hormone receptors positive, HER-2 negative	Ongoing culture
NT 021	Hormone receptors negative, HER-2 positive	Failure in establishment of a cell line, small sample size
NT 023	Hormone receptors negative, HER2 negative (TNBC)	Successfully established
NT028	Triple-negative breast cancer	Failure in establishment of a cell line
NT032	Hormone receptors negative, HER-2 positive	failure in establishment of a cell line
NT040	Her2 positive, hormone receptor negative	Very small sample size, failure in establishment of a cell line

2.4.1. Immunocytochemistry for CK19 and vimentin detection in established cell lines

Cells were seeded on coverslips in 24-well cell culture plates using the F-meda (for NT013, NT015, and NT023) and complete DMEM(for MDA-MB 231, MCF-7, and BJ fibroblasts) and incubated for 24h in 37°C. Cells were then washed with PBS, fixed with 4% PFA in PBS, and permeabilized using 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS. There were three-times washing steps between these treatments. Cells were then blocked using 5% BSA in PBS for 1h and then double-immunostained with anti-cytokeratin 19 and anti-vimentin IgG for 1h, followed by washing with PBS and incubation with secondary antibodies for 1h. Finally, the cells were mounted on microscope slides and DAPI solution was used to stain the nuclei. Imaging was done using

fluorescent microscopy. This experiment was done in triplicate and 5 images were taken for each coverslip (i.e. there were 15 images to check the target molecule in each cell line). Data quantification was done as follow (example: Ck19):

% of CK19 expressing cells= $\frac{\text{the average of total CK19 expressing cells for all images}}{\text{the average of total number of cells for all images}}$

To count the number of cells, we counted the number of nuclei stained with DAPI, which represented the presence of cells.

Figure 2.1 shows the CK19 and vimentin staining results for the established cell lines. Data showed that NT013 cells expressed CK19. However, this expression was significantly high in a percentage of cells, while the rest of cells expressed a lower level of CK19. Interestingly, cells with high CK19 expression showed a low vimentin expression, while cells with low CK19 expression had a high level of vimentin expression. A similar pattern of CK19 and vimentin was observed for NT015 cell line. For NT023 cell line, all the cells weakly expressed CK19, while there was a higher expression of vimentin. MDA-MB 231 (triple-negative breast cancer cell line) and MCF-7 (HR+ breast cancer cell line) cell lines were used as CK19-positive controls, and Bj fibroblasts (normal human fibroblasts from foreskin) was used as CK19-negative control. For vimentin, MDA-MB 231 and Bj fibroblasts were considered as positive control, while MCF-7 cells were considered as vimentin-negative control.



Figure 2.1. A) The expression status of CK19 and vimentin in the established patient-derived breast cancer cell lines using double-immunocytochemistry (Scale bar: 100µm). B) quantitative analysis of CK19 and vimentin expression in established breast cancer cell lines. As shown, all three cell lines expressed CK19. However, the NT023 weakly expressed CK19. Regarding vimentin, NT023 cells significantly expressed high levels of vimentin, and NT013 cells expressed higher level of vimentin than NT015 cells. For CK19, MDA-MB 231 and MCF-7 cell lines were considered as positive control, and Bj fibroblasts considered as negative control. For vimentin, MDA-MB 231 and Bj fibroblasts were considered as positive control. (One-way Anova test, P-value≤0.05 considered as statistically significant).

A (Continued)



Figure 2.1. A) The expression status of CK19 and vimentin in the established patient-derived breast cancer cell lines using double-immunocytochemistry (Scale bar: 100µm). B) quantitative analysis of CK19 and vimentin expression in established breast cancer cell lines (Continued). As shown, all three cell lines expressed CK19. However, the NT023 weakly expressed CK19. Regarding vimentin, NT023 cells significantly expressed high levels of vimentin, and NT013 cells expressed higher level of vimentin than NT015 cells. For CK19, MDA-MB 231 and MCF-7 cell lines were considered as positive control, and Bj fibroblasts considered as negative control. For vimentin, MDA-MB 231 and Bj fibroblasts were considered as positive control and MCF-7 cells were considered as negative control. (One-way Anova test, P-value≤0.05 considered as statistically significant).



Figure 2.1. A) The expression status of CK19 and vimentin in the established patient-derived breast cancer cell lines using double-immunocytochemistry (Scale bar: 100µm) (continued). B) quantitative analysis of CK19 and vimentin expression in established breast cancer cell lines. As shown, all three cell lines expressed CK19. However, the NT023 weakly expressed CK19. Regarding vimentin, NT023 cells significantly expressed high levels of vimentin, and NT013 cells expressed higher level of vimentin than NT015 cells. For CK19, MDA-MB 231 and MCF-7 cell lines were considered as positive control, and Bj fibroblasts considered as negative control. For vimentin, MDA-MB 231 and Bj fibroblasts were considered as positive control. (One-way Anova test, P-value≤0.05 considered as statistically significant).

2.4.2. Weak CK19 and vimentin expression in a portion of NT013 and NT015 cell lines

Our data revealed that the status of CK19 and vimentin expression, in NT013 and to some extent in NT015 cell line, was as follows: High CK19/low vimentin and low CK19/high vimentin; which was interesting. Results also demonstrated that there was a significantly higher weak expression of CK19 in NT013 cells compared to strong CK19 expression (p-value ≤ 0.05). On the other hand, there were significantly more cells expressing high level of vimentin than those

expressing low vimentin (p-value≤0.05). The figure 2.2 shows the quantification data for CK19 vs. vimentin expression level in NT013 cell line.



Figure 2.2. quantitative analysis of CK19&vimentin expression in two levels (strong vs. weak) based on fluorescence intensity in NT013 cell line. As shown, there were significant number of NT013 cells with weak CK19 expression than those with strong CK19 expression. Also, there were significantly higher number of NT013 cells with strong vimentin expression than those with weak vimentin expression (One-way Anova, p-value≤0.05 was considered as statistically significant

2.4.3. EpCAM and Ki67 expression status of the established cell lines

Cells were seeded on round coverslips in a 12-well cell culture plate in the corresponding media mentioned above. Similar staining protocol was used, with anti-human EpCAM mouse antibody and anti-human Ki67 rabbit antibody used to detect EpCAM and Ki67 molecules in the cell lines, respectively. Figure 2.3 shows the staining images and quantification data for EpCAM and Ki67 expression in the established cell lines. Based on the staining results, EpCAM was not expressed in NT023 cell line, which was consistent with our finding about the corresponding control cell line, MDA-MB 231 cell line. However, there was a low EpCAM expression especially

in NT013 cell line, and NT015 cells EpCAM expression was significanly higher than that in NT013 cells (p-value<0.05). Since these two cell lines were hormone receptors-positive, HER2 negative; their EpCAM expression was compared with that of MCF-7 cell line, and we found that unlike MCF-7 cells, not all NT013 and NT015 cells expressed EpCAM on their surface. For Ki67 expression, data showed that all the NT023 cells expressed this marker, which was consistent with the expression in MDA-MB 231 cells. This reflects the high proliferative feature of triple-negative cell lines. NT023 cells showed a significantly higher Ki67 expression compared to NT013 and NT015 cells (p-value<0.05). Also, NT013 cells expressed a significantly higher Ki67 than NT015 cell line (p-value<0.05).



Figure 2.3. The expression status of two breast cancer biomarkers in the established patient-derived breast cancer cell lines using immunocytochemistry. A&B) EpCAM/Ki67 double staining. NT023 cells showed no EpCAM expression, while a population of NT013 and NT015 cell lines significantly expressed EpCAM. All the cell lines showed Ki67 expression (Scale bar: 100µm). B) quantitative analysis of the EpCAM and Ki67 epression in established breast cancer cell lines. There was a significantly higher EpCAM expression in NT015 compared to NT013 cell line. As expected, NT023 cell line showed no EpCAM expression. NT023 cells highly expressed Ki67, and NT013 cells expressed significantly higher Ki67 than NT015 cell line (One-way Anova test, P-value≤0.05 considered as statistically significant).



Figure 2.3. The expression status of two breast cancer biomarkers in the established patient-derived breast cancer cell lines using immunocytochemistry (continued). A&B) EpCAM/Ki67 double staining. NT023 cells showed no EpCAM expression, while a population of NT013 and NT015 cell lines significantly expressed EpCAM. All the cell lines showed Ki67 expression (Scale bar: 100µm). B) quantitative analysis of the EpCAM and Ki67 epression in established breast cancer cell lines. There was a significantly higher EpCAM expression in NT015 compared to NT013 cell line. As expected, NT023 cell line showed no EpCAM expression. NT023 cells highly expressed Ki67, and NT013 cells expressed significantly higher Ki67 than NT015 cell line (One-way Anova test, P-value≤0.05 considered as statistically significant).



Figure 2.3. The expression status of two breast cancer biomarkers in the established patient-derived breast cancer cell lines using immunocytochemistry (continued). A&B) EpCAM/Ki67 double staining. NT023 cells showed no EpCAM expression, while a population of NT013 and NT015 cell lines significantly expressed EpCAM. All the cell lines showed Ki67 expression (Scale bar: 100µm). B) quantitative analysis of the EpCAM and Ki67 epression in established breast cancer cell lines. There was a significantly higher EpCAM expression in NT015 compared to NT013 cell line. As expected, NT023 cell line showed no EpCAM expression. NT023 cells highly expressed Ki67, and NT013 cells expressed significantly higher Ki67 than NT015 cell line (One-way Anova test, P-value≤0.05 considered as statistically significant).

2.4.4. E-cadherin and N-cadherin expression status of the established cell lines

In order to check the E-cadherin and N-cadherin expression levels, q-PCR was conducted. Cells were seeded in 6-well plates and after reaching 90% confluency, were trizoled to lyse the cells and release RNA. RNA extraction was done and the concentration and quality of the extracted RNA was checked using nanodrop. After C-DNA synthesis, the concentration and quality of C-DNA was also checked by nanodrop. Q-PCR was done using 200ng concentration of the C-DNA for each sample. This experiment was done in both biological and technical triplicates. Our q-PCR results showed that the NT013 and NT015 cells significantly expressed E-cadherin, while NT023 cells did not show any E-cadherin expression. Also, none of the three established cell lines expressed N-cadherin (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4. The expression status of two breast cancer biomarkers in the established breast cancer cell lines by q-PCR. A) N-cadherin expression. As shown, none of the established patient-derived breast cancer cell lines significantly expressed N-cadherin. BJ fibroblasts were considered as the positive control. B) E-cadherin expression. NT015 and NT013 cell lines significantly expressed E-cadherin, while there was no E-cadherin expression for NT023. Experiment was done in biological and technical triplicates. (One-way Anova test, P-value≤0.05 considered as statistically significant).

2.4.5. Changes in proliferation rate following estrogen treatment

As the passage number increased, cells showed slow growth rate in passage 5. We started treating the NT013 cells with 1nM estrogen (Sigma-Aldrich, catalog number: E8875) in P5 in order to facilitate cancer cells proliferation. Following estrogen treatment, we noticed a faster proliferation rate starting from passage 6, exhibited by increased Ki67 expression in estrogen-treated NT013 cells (Figure 2.5). However, we found out changed morphology and decreased CK19 expression (compared to NT013 cells in P6, shown in figure 2.1A) in these cells, while estrogen-treated MCF-7 cells maintained CK19 expression (figure 2.6). The sustained CK19 expression in MCF-7 cells might be due to the long-term adaptation to the 2D culture. Another scenario might be that the changes found in NT013 cells were spontaneous and were not due to estrogen treatment. Also, NT015 cells were treated with estrogen in the same way and we could not see any improved proliferation after estrogen treatment in this cell line (data not shown).



Figure 2.5. Higher Ki67 expression in NT013 cells treated with 1nM estrogen (left), compared to untreated NT013 cells (right). This reflects a higher proliferation rate following estrogen treatment in NT013 cell line (Scale bar: 100µm).



Figure 2.6. Loss of CK19 expression in NT013 cells treated with 1nM estrogen. Following treatment with estrogen, NT013 cells lost their CK19 expression, while MCF-7 cells could retain their CK19 expression even following estrogen treatment.

2.5. Discussion

Commercial breast cancer cell lines, despite their advantages, have shown limitations in representing the actual in vivo condition of the cancer cells. This is mainly due to the existence of key mutations over the long-term in vitro culture of cancer cells. Patient-derived cancer cell lines are valuable tools to understand the biology of tumor microenvironment as well as to demonstrate a relatively close resemblance to the in vivo condition of the cancer cells, since they are just isolated from the patient tumor and have not undergone genetic alterations. However, based on our findings, long-term culture of patient-derived breast cancer cell lines in monolayer condition was to some extent challenging and time-consuming. This was demonstrated by lack of efficient growth and survival in several breast cancer tumor samples that we obtained. However, the strength of our study was successful establishment of three patient-derived breast cancer cell lines. In our way to establish these cell lines, we overcame challenges such as cell scenesence, inefficient

cancer cell growth, etc. The success rate of breast cancer cell line establishment has been 25% so far. We had several samples in which the cancer cells could not survive and died due to the stress of transition from in vivo to in vitro. However, we successfully established three cell lines, two of which being hormone receptors (Estrogen and/or progesterone) positive, HER2 negative breast cancer; and one being Triple-negative (Estrogen/progesterone negative, HER-2 negative) breast cancer cell line.

Cells in passages 6 and 7 exhibited some changes in the CK19, vimentin, and EpCAM expressions. As shown in the result section, NT013 and NT015 cell lines began to express vimentin, accompanied by reduced CK19 expression. For NT023 cell line, the CK19 expression level significantly reduced. These findings demonstrated some degrees of inconsistency compared to their corresponding commercial cell lines, MDA-MB 231 and MCF-7. There are different potential reasons for these changes. One possible reason for established HR+ HER2- cell lines, NT013 and NT015, might be the occurrence of EMT in vitro. Epidermal growth factor (EGF) is known as a trigger of EMT via the phospho-Smad2/3-Snail signaling pathway (194). High glucose levels have also been demonstrated to enhance EMT in breast cancer cells, mediated by ROS formation (195). Furthermore, TGF- β is proven to induce EMT in cancer cells (196) via the induction of the H3K27me3 demethylation in Snail1 promoter, resulting in Snail1 overexpression and thus EMT induction (197). TGF- β is a component found in serum. Since we used F-media containing TGF- β , EGF, and high glucose DMEM, these factors might have induced EMT in our HR-positive HER-2-negative established breast cancer cell lines. Loss of CK19 expression is explained as one of the phenomena associated with EMT (198).

We did not find loss of E-cadherin and gain of N-cadherin at the same passage number as we noticed CK19 and vimentin expression changes, which is one of the reasons that challenges the EMT induction hypothesis, which makes us take into account another scenario: genetic alterations induced due to 2D culture of the established breast cancer cell lines. Liu et al. showed that the 2D cell lines carried significant genomic alterations due to the culturing effects. They emphasized that the culturing media could not guarantee mimicking tumor microenvironment, thereby making the cancer cells susceptible to genetic changes (199).

Kuo et al. aimed to establish two basal-like breast cancer cell lines and found out that there was a strong CK19 expression in both MDA-MB 231 and MCF-7 cell lines, while there was an extremely weak CK19 expression in the two patient-derived basal-like breast cancer cell lines (200), similar to the NT023 cell line in passage 6 Furthermore, Fujisue et al found out tha in patients with luminal A subtype, there was 45.3% CK19 positivity and 40.7% CK19 negativity among the studied patient samples, while these percentages were 30.2% and 14.8% in luminal B subtype (201).

Fu et al. reported that vimentin was not expressed by MCF-7 cells (202), while Wei et al. showed that MDA-MB 231 cells highly expressed vimentin (203). The high vimentin expression in NT023 correlated with the results by Wei et al. Also, we did not detect vimentin in MCF-7 cells, while a population of NT013 and NT015 cells highly expressed vimentin.

Martowicz et al. aimed to checked the EpCAM expression in MCF-7 and MDA-MB 231 cell lines and western blotting results showed that MCF-7 cells, but not MDA-MB 231 cells, highly expressed EpCAM, which was consistent with what we observed in these two cell lines. We also did not observe EpCAM expression in NT023 cells, while in some population of NT013 and NT015 cells, there was EpCAM expression (204).

Chao et al. demonstrated that MCF-7 cells could express E-cadherin, while there was no E-cadherin expression in MDA-MB 231 cells (205). In our research, we also did not find E-

cadherin expression in MDA-MB 231 cells, while MCF-7 cells showed E-cadherin expression. NT013 and NT015 cell lines highly expressed E-cadherin, while NT023 cells did not. These data suggest that the E-cadherin expression status of the established cell lines correlated with what has been reported by others.

In 2016, Schlegel et.al (170) attempted to propagate both normal and tumor cells isolated from the individuals in 2D culture system using conditional reprogramming technology, and successfully established patient-derived breast cancer cell lines. They also showed that conditional reprogramming demonstrated an efficacy higher than that of cell transformation by SV40 virus large T-antigen or by overexpression of hTERT. Zhuang et al. (157) established two patientderived breast cancer cell lines using the following culture media: mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) media (DMEM with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) supplemented with glutamax, MEM NEAA, sodium pyruvate, and $5 \mu M$ Y-27632-inhibitor. The presence of ROCK inhibitor and Swiss 3T3 J2 feeder cells in our culture system was to contribute to a more efficient survival and proliferation of the cancer cells. Feeder cells cooperate with ROCK inhibitor and induce the immortalization of the cancer cells through a complex interaction between various genes, including hTERT, Myc, E6, pRB, etc (172). Our established breast cancer cell lines initially showed high proliferation rate in co-culture with MEFs, while later in passage 5, the presence of MEFs did not support the proliferation of cancer cells, and the cells stopped growing. Only switching from 2D culture to 3D culture, and then 3D to 2D culture, led to the enhanced proliferation in the established breast cancer cell lines.

In estrogen treatment experiment, although we found enhanced proliferation and reduced CK19 expression when the NT013 cell were treated with 1nM estrogen, NT015 and MCF-7 cell did not show such changes. This may be due to an spontaneous change in CK19 and Ki67

expression in NT013 cell line. On the other hand, we could speculate that only NT013 cell line showed these responses after treatment with estrogen. However, further research needs to be conducted to evaluate the estrogen effect on breast cancer subtypes regarding their biomarker expression and proliferation status.

In conclusion, we found out that the established breast cancer cell lines could express the key breast cancer biomarkers, with tendency towards expressing higher levels of vimentin. our results indicated the need for an alternative option for maintaining long-term and stable patient-derived breast cancer cell lines which can mimic the in vivo properties of the tumor. These options could include 3D spheroids and Patient-derived organoids.

CHAPTER 3. SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTION

Commercial cell lines have long been used in both basic and translational cancer research and have been considered as a valuable tool to understand the biology of cancer as well as developing innovative therapeutic strategies for cancer patients. However, there are limitations that necessitates the development of alternative modalities in order to have a better understanding of biological events occurring in Tumor microenvironment (TME). Due to long-term in vitro culture, commercially available cell lines have undergone key mutations that make them ineffective in recapitulating the actual TME in vivo.

Many efforts have been made to come up with more efficient in vitro approaches that could sustain the genetic characteristics of breast cancer. Patient-derived breast cancer cell lines are promising tools that have shown to be effective alternatives for commercially available cell lines. However, establishment of long-term, stable breast cancer cell lines is a daunting task, and many efforts have failed due to lack of efficient growth, genetic alteration, and senescence. Characterization of the established patient-derived breast cancer cell lines is a key to verify the successful establishment of cell lines as well as to keep a track of their genetic characteristics overtime, thereby enabling us to draw conclusion about the efficacy of 2D culture system for maintaining the patient-derived breast cancer cell lines.

We successfully established three patient-derived breast cancer cell lines, overcoming the challenges such as cell scenescence and lack of cancer cell growth and propagations. We could verify that the cancer cells expressed well-known breast cancer biomarkers such as CK19, vimentin, EpCAM, and E-cadherin. These cell lines could be valuable tools for further research on testing drug sensitivity as well as being considered as platforms for utilization in 3D models to

understand the biological characteristics of breast cancer as well as testing drug sensitivity and gene expression profiling in these models compared to 2D model.

We checked the status of several biomarkers that are shown to be overexpressed in breast cancer cells, CK19, Ki67, Vimentin, E-cadherin, N-cadherin, and EpCAM. Our findings demonstrated that our established breast cancer cell lines underwent morphological and marker expression alterations overtime, reflecting the need for alternative approaches to develop the effective culture of patient-derived cancer cells with appropriate growth rate and sustained genetic characteristics of the original tumor in vivo.

We successfully established these cell lines, overcoming cell scenescence and inefficient cancer cell growth. Also, our cell lines, to some extent, maintained key breast cancer biomarkers. These cell lines are being used in 3D culture systems such as hanging drop method and biomimetic scaffolds in order to recapitulate breast cancer bone metastasis and shed lights on for better understanding of the breast cancer biology. Using these cell lines in biomimetic scaffold approach, a wide variety of therapeutic drugs could be tested and screened for further precise administration in clinical trials and develop efficient and promising treatments in personalized medicine area, where treatment is specifically developed for each patient based on the samples obtained from their own body. This is of particular importance due to the tumor heterogeneity among different individuals. Furthermore, it would be helpful to develop patient-derived breast cancer cell lines from the bone metastasis samples and use both breast-derived and bone-derived cell lines for personalized medicine, and compare the effectiveness of treatment in these two types of cell lines.

Therefore, future research requires to focus on comparing the 2D versus 3D culture systems and investigate the efficacy of 3D and other novel ex-vivo systems in recapitulating the biological processes happening in vivo, so that they could be offered as promising platforms to test the effectiveness of various therapeutic modalities for cancer. This can especially be useful to be implemented in personalized medicine.

REFERENCES

- Harbeck N, Penault-Llorca F, Cortes J, Gnant M, Houssami N, Poortmans P, et al. Breast cancer. Nature Reviews Disease Primers. 2019;5(1):66.
- Siwek B, Larsimont D, Lacroix M, Body JJ. Establishment and characterization of three new breast-cancer cell lines. Int J Cancer. 1998;76(5):677-83.
- 3. Riaz M, van Jaarsveld MT, Hollestelle A, Prager-van der Smissen WJ, Heine AA, Boersma AW, et al. miRNA expression profiling of 51 human breast cancer cell lines reveals subtype and driver mutation-specific miRNAs. Breast cancer research : BCR. 2013;15(2):R33.
- Dai X, Cheng H, Bai Z, Li J. Breast Cancer Cell Line Classification and Its Relevance with Breast Tumor Subtyping. Journal of Cancer. 2017;8(16):3131-41.
- Koay DC, Digiovanna MP. Synergistic interaction between all-trans retinoic acid, Herceptin, and tamoxifen in BT-474 human breast cancer cells. Cancer research. 2004;64(7_Supplement):508-.
- 6. Zheng A, Kallio A, Härkönen P. Tamoxifen-induced rapid death of MCF-7 breast cancer cells is mediated via extracellularly signal-regulated kinase signaling and can be abrogated by estrogen. Endocrinology. 2007;148(6):2764-77.
- 7. Lacroix M, Haibe-Kains B, Hennuy B, Laes JF, Lallemand F, Gonze I, et al. Gene regulation by phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate in MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231, two breast cancer cell lines exhibiting highly different phenotypes. Oncology reports. 2004;12(4):701-7.
- Katchman BA, Ocal IT, Cunliffe HE, Chang YH, Hostetter G, Watanabe A, et al. Expression of quiescin sulfhydryl oxidase 1 is associated with a highly invasive phenotype and correlates with a poor prognosis in Luminal B breast cancer. Breast cancer research : BCR. 2013;15(2):R28.

- Fang WB, Yao M, Jokar I, Alhakamy N, Berkland C, Chen J, et al. The CCL2 chemokine is a negative regulator of autophagy and necrosis in luminal B breast cancer cells. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2015;150(2):309-20.
- 10. De Iuliis F, Salerno G, Giuffrida A, Milana B, Taglieri L, Rubinacci G, et al. Breast cancer cells respond differently to docetaxel depending on their phenotype and on survivin upregulation. Tumour biology : the journal of the International Society for Oncodevelopmental Biology and Medicine. 2016;37(2):2603-11.
- Das P, Siegers GM, Postovit L-M. Illuminating luminal B: QSOX1 as a subtype-specific biomarker. Breast Cancer Research. 2013;15(3):104.
- Bertucci F, Borie N, Ginestier C, Groulet A, Charafe-Jauffret E, Adélaïde J, et al. Identification and validation of an ERBB2 gene expression signature in breast cancers. Oncogene. 2004;23(14):2564-75.
- Neve RM, Chin K, Fridlyand J, Yeh J, Baehner FL, Fevr T, et al. A collection of breast cancer cell lines for the study of functionally distinct cancer subtypes. Cancer cell. 2006;10(6):515-27.
- Charafe-Jauffret E, Ginestier C, Monville F, Finetti P, Adélaïde J, Cervera N, et al. Gene expression profiling of breast cell lines identifies potential new basal markers. Oncogene. 2006;25(15):2273-84.
- 15. Kao J, Salari K, Bocanegra M, Choi YL, Girard L, Gandhi J, et al. Molecular profiling of breast cancer cell lines defines relevant tumor models and provides a resource for cancer gene discovery. PLoS One. 2009;4(7):e6146.
- Dai X, Xiang L, Li T, Bai Z. Cancer Hallmarks, Biomarkers and Breast Cancer Molecular Subtypes. Journal of Cancer. 2016;7(10):1281-94.

- 17. Wang B, Elledge SJ. Ubc13/Rnf8 ubiquitin ligases control foci formation of the Rap80/Abraxas/Brca1/Brcc36 complex in response to DNA damage. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2007;104(52):20759-63.
- 18. Sorlie T, Tibshirani R, Parker J, Hastie T, Marron JS, Nobel A, et al. Repeated observation of breast tumor subtypes in independent gene expression data sets. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2003;100(14):8418-23.
- 19. Cheang MC, Voduc D, Bajdik C, Leung S, McKinney S, Chia SK, et al. Basal-like breast cancer defined by five biomarkers has superior prognostic value than triple-negative phenotype. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. 2008;14(5):1368-76.
- 20. Turner N, Tutt A, Ashworth A. Hallmarks of 'BRCAness' in sporadic cancers. Nature reviews Cancer. 2004;4(10):814-9.
- Osta WA, Chen Y, Mikhitarian K, Mitas M, Salem M, Hannun YA, et al. EpCAM is overexpressed in breast cancer and is a potential target for breast cancer gene therapy. Cancer research. 2004;64(16):5818-24.
- 22. Litvinov SV, Bakker HA, Gourevitch MM, Velders MP, Warnaar SO. Evidence for a role of the epithelial glycoprotein 40 (Ep-CAM) in epithelial cell-cell adhesion. Cell adhesion and communication. 1994;2(5):417-28.
- 23. Litvinov SV, Velders MP, Bakker HA, Fleuren GJ, Warnaar SO. Ep-CAM: a human epithelial antigen is a homophilic cell-cell adhesion molecule. The Journal of cell biology. 1994;125(2):437-46.

- 24. de Boer CJ, van Krieken JH, Janssen-van Rhijn CM, Litvinov SV. Expression of Ep-CAM in normal, regenerating, metaplastic, and neoplastic liver. The Journal of pathology. 1999;188(2):201-6.
- 25. Litvinov SV, van Driel W, van Rhijn CM, Bakker HA, van Krieken H, Fleuren GJ, et al. Expression of Ep-CAM in cervical squamous epithelia correlates with an increased proliferation and the disappearance of markers for terminal differentiation. The American journal of pathology. 1996;148(3):865-75.
- Coulombe PA, Wong P. Cytoplasmic intermediate filaments revealed as dynamic and multipurpose scaffolds. Nature cell biology. 2004;6(8):699-706.
- 27. Sun Y, Liu WZ, Liu T, Feng X, Yang N, Zhou HF. Signaling pathway of MAPK/ERK in cell proliferation, differentiation, migration, senescence and apoptosis. Journal of receptor and signal transduction research. 2015;35(6):600-4.
- 28. Chen Z, Fang Z, Ma J. Regulatory mechanisms and clinical significance of vimentin in breast cancer. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy. 2021;133:111068.
- 29. Cheng F, Shen Y, Mohanasundaram P, Lindström M, Ivaska J, Ny T, et al. Vimentin coordinates fibroblast proliferation and keratinocyte differentiation in wound healing via TGF-β-Slug signaling. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2016;113(30):E4320-7.
- 30. Nieminen M, Henttinen T, Merinen M, Marttila-Ichihara F, Eriksson JE, Jalkanen S. Vimentin function in lymphocyte adhesion and transcellular migration. Nature cell biology. 2006;8(2):156-62.

- 31. Franke WW, Grund C, Kuhn C, Jackson BW, Illmensee K. Formation of cytoskeletal elements during mouse embryogenesis. III. Primary mesenchymal cells and the first appearance of vimentin filaments. Differentiation; research in biological diversity. 1982;23(1):43-59.
- 32. Mendez MG, Kojima S, Goldman RD. Vimentin induces changes in cell shape, motility, and adhesion during the epithelial to mesenchymal transition. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2010;24(6):1838-51.
- 33. Bronte G, Puccetti M, Crinò L, Bravaccini S. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and EGFR status in NSCLC: the role of vimentin expression. Annals of Oncology. 2019;30(2):339-40.
- Liu CY, Lin HH, Tang MJ, Wang YK. Vimentin contributes to epithelial-mesenchymal transition cancer cell mechanics by mediating cytoskeletal organization and focal adhesion maturation. Oncotarget. 2015;6(18):15966-83.
- 35. Dauphin M, Barbe C, Lemaire S, Nawrocki-Raby B, Lagonotte E, Delepine G, et al. Vimentin expression predicts the occurrence of metastases in non small cell lung carcinomas. Lung cancer (Amsterdam, Netherlands). 2013;81(1):117-22.
- 36. Du L, Li J, Lei L, He H, Chen E, Dong J, et al. High Vimentin Expression Predicts a Poor Prognosis and Progression in Colorectal Cancer: A Study with Meta-Analysis and TCGA Database. BioMed research international. 2018;2018:6387810.
- 37. Dong Q, Zhu X, Dai C, Zhang X, Gao X, Wei J, et al. Osteopontin promotes epithelialmesenchymal transition of hepatocellular carcinoma through regulating vimentin. Oncotarget. 2016;7(11):12997-3012.
- 38. Satelli A, Batth I, Brownlee Z, Mitra A, Zhou S, Noh H, et al. EMT circulating tumor cells detected by cell-surface vimentin are associated with prostate cancer progression. Oncotarget. 2017;8(30):49329-37.
- 39. Gerdes J, Schwab U, Lemke H, Stein H. Production of a mouse monoclonal antibody reactive with a human nuclear antigen associated with cell proliferation. Int J Cancer. 1983;31(1):13-20.
- 40. Dowsett M, Nielsen TO, A'Hern R, Bartlett J, Coombes RC, Cuzick J, et al. Assessment of Ki67 in breast cancer: recommendations from the International Ki67 in Breast Cancer working group. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2011;103(22):1656-64.
- 41. Luo Y, Ren F, Liu Y, Shi Z, Tan Z, Xiong H, et al. Clinicopathological and prognostic significance of high Ki-67 labeling index in hepatocellular carcinoma patients: a meta-analysis. International journal of clinical and experimental medicine. 2015;8(7):10235-47.
- 42. Pyo JS, Kang G, Sohn JH. Ki-67 labeling index can be used as a prognostic marker in gastrointestinal stromal tumor: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The International journal of biological markers. 2016;31(2):e204-10.
- 43. Pezzilli R, Partelli S, Cannizzaro R, Pagano N, Crippa S, Pagnanelli M, et al. Ki-67 prognostic and therapeutic decision driven marker for pancreatic neuroendocrine neoplasms (PNENs):
 A systematic review. Advances in medical sciences. 2016;61(1):147-53.
- 44. Richards-Taylor S, Ewings SM, Jaynes E, Tilley C, Ellis SG, Armstrong T, et al. The assessment of Ki-67 as a prognostic marker in neuroendocrine tumours: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of clinical pathology. 2016;69(7):612-8.

- 45. Gerdes J, Lemke H, Baisch H, Wacker HH, Schwab U, Stein H. Cell cycle analysis of a cell proliferation-associated human nuclear antigen defined by the monoclonal antibody Ki-67. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 1984;133(4):1710-5.
- 46. Sobecki M, Mrouj K, Camasses A, Parisis N, Nicolas E, Llères D, et al. The cell proliferation antigen Ki-67 organises heterochromatin. eLife. 2016;5:e13722.
- 47. Sobecki M, Mrouj K, Colinge J, Gerbe F, Jay P, Krasinska L, et al. Cell-Cycle Regulation Accounts for Variability in Ki-67 Expression Levels. Cancer research. 2017;77(10):2722-34.
- 48. Chierico L, Rizzello L, Guan L, Joseph AS, Lewis A, Battaglia G. The role of the two splice variants and extranuclear pathway on Ki-67 regulation in non-cancer and cancer cells. PLoS One. 2017;12(2):e0171815.
- 49. Lopez F, Belloc F, Lacombe F, Dumain P, Reiffers J, Bernard P, et al. Modalities of synthesis of Ki67 antigen during the stimulation of lymphocytes. Cytometry. 1991;12(1):42-9.
- 50. Booth DG, Takagi M, Sanchez-Pulido L, Petfalski E, Vargiu G, Samejima K, et al. Ki-67 is a PP1-interacting protein that organises the mitotic chromosome periphery. Elife. 2014;3:e01641.
- 51. Booth DG, Beckett AJ, Molina O, Samejima I, Masumoto H, Kouprina N, et al. 3D-CLEM Reveals that a Major Portion of Mitotic Chromosomes Is Not Chromatin. Molecular cell. 2016;64(4):790-802.
- 52. Cuylen S, Blaukopf C, Politi AZ, Müller-Reichert T, Neumann B, Poser I, et al. Ki-67 acts as a biological surfactant to disperse mitotic chromosomes. Nature. 2016;535(7611):308-12.

- 53. Takagi M, Ono T, Natsume T, Sakamoto C, Nakao M, Saitoh N, et al. Ki-67 and condensins support the integrity of mitotic chromosomes through distinct mechanisms. Journal of cell science. 2018;131(6).
- 54. Sun X, Kaufman PD. Ki-67: more than a proliferation marker. Chromosoma. 2018;127(2):175-86.
- 55. Feric M, Vaidya N, Harmon TS, Mitrea DM, Zhu L, Richardson TM, et al. Coexisting Liquid Phases Underlie Nucleolar Subcompartments. Cell. 2016;165(7):1686-97.
- 56. Matheson TD, Kaufman PD. Grabbing the genome by the NADs. Chromosoma. 2016;125(3):361-71.
- 57. Matheson TD, Kaufman PD. The p150N domain of chromatin assembly factor-1 regulates Ki67 accumulation on the mitotic perichromosomal layer. Molecular biology of the cell.
 2017;28(1):21-9.
- 58. Oloomi M, Bouzari S, Mohagheghi MA, Khodayaran-Tehrani H. Molecular markers in peripheral blood of Iranian women with breast cancer. Cancer microenvironment : official journal of the International Cancer Microenvironment Society. 2013;6(1):109-16.
- 59. Kahn HJ, Yang LY, Blondal J, Lickley L, Holloway C, Hanna W, et al. RT-PCR amplification of CK19 mRNA in the blood of breast cancer patients: correlation with established prognostic parameters. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2000;60(2):143-51.
- 60. Keyvani S, Karimi N, Orafa Z, Bouzari S, Oloomi M. Assessment of Cytokeratin-19 Gene Expression in Peripheral Blood of Breast Cancer Patients and Breast Cancer Cell Lines. Biomarkers in cancer. 2016;8:57-63.

- 61. Alix-Panabières C, Vendrell JP, Slijper M, Pellé O, Barbotte E, Mercier G, et al. Full-length cytokeratin-19 is released by human tumor cells: a potential role in metastatic progression of breast cancer. Breast cancer research : BCR. 2009;11(3):R39.
- 62. Stathopoulos EN, Sanidas E, Kafousi M, Mavroudis D, Askoxylakis J, Bozionelou V, et al. Detection of CK-19 mRNA-positive cells in the peripheral blood of breast cancer patients with histologically and immunohistochemically negative axillary lymph nodes. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology. 2005;16(2):240-6.
- Wong SHM, Fang CM, Chuah LH, Leong CO, Ngai SC. E-cadherin: Its dysregulation in carcinogenesis and clinical implications. Critical reviews in oncology/hematology. 2018;121:11-22.
- 64. Halbleib JM, Nelson WJ. Cadherins in development: cell adhesion, sorting, and tissue morphogenesis. Genes & development. 2006;20(23):3199-214.
- Lagendijk AK, Hogan BM. VE-cadherin in vascular development: a coordinator of cell signaling and tissue morphogenesis. Current topics in developmental biology. 2015;112:325-52.
- 66. West JJ, Harris TJ. Cadherin Trafficking for Tissue Morphogenesis: Control and Consequences. Traffic (Copenhagen, Denmark). 2016;17(12):1233-43.
- 67. Takeichi M. Functional correlation between cell adhesive properties and some cell surface proteins. The Journal of cell biology. 1977;75(2 Pt 1):464-74.
- van Roy F, Berx G. The cell-cell adhesion molecule E-cadherin. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS. 2008;65(23):3756-88.

- 69. Capaldo CT, Farkas AE, Nusrat A. Epithelial adhesive junctions. F1000prime reports. 2014;6:1.
- 70. Pećina-Slaus N. Tumor suppressor gene E-cadherin and its role in normal and malignant cells. Cancer cell international. 2003;3(1):17.
- 71. Harrison OJ, Jin X, Hong S, Bahna F, Ahlsen G, Brasch J, et al. The extracellular architecture of adherens junctions revealed by crystal structures of type I cadherins. Structure (London, England : 1993). 2011;19(2):244-56.
- Leckband D, Prakasam A. Mechanism and dynamics of cadherin adhesion. Annual review of biomedical engineering. 2006;8:259-87.
- 73. Jeanes A, Gottardi CJ, Yap AS. Cadherins and cancer: how does cadherin dysfunction promote tumor progression? Oncogene. 2008;27(55):6920-9.
- 74. Hollestelle A, Peeters JK, Smid M, Timmermans M, Verhoog LC, Westenend PJ, et al. Loss of E-cadherin is not a necessity for epithelial to mesenchymal transition in human breast cancer. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2013;138(1):47-57.
- 75. Chen A, Beetham H, Black MA, Priya R, Telford BJ, Guest J, et al. E-cadherin loss alters cytoskeletal organization and adhesion in non-malignant breast cells but is insufficient to induce an epithelial-mesenchymal transition. BMC cancer. 2014;14:552.
- 76. Xing X, Tang YB, Yuan G, Wang Y, Wang J, Yang Y, et al. The prognostic value of Ecadherin in gastric cancer: a meta-analysis. Int J Cancer. 2013;132(11):2589-96.
- 77. Horne HN, Sherman ME, Garcia-Closas M, Pharoah PD, Blows FM, Yang XR, et al. Breast cancer susceptibility risk associations and heterogeneity by E-cadherin tumor tissue expression. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2014;143(1):181-7.

- 78. Shapiro L, Fannon AM, Kwong PD, Thompson A, Lehmann MS, Grübel G, et al. Structural basis of cell-cell adhesion by cadherins. Nature. 1995;374(6520):327-37.
- 79. Yap AS, Brieher WM, Pruschy M, Gumbiner BM. Lateral clustering of the adhesive ectodomain: a fundamental determinant of cadherin function. Current biology : CB. 1997;7(5):308-15.
- 80. Taulet N, Comunale F, Favard C, Charrasse S, Bodin S, Gauthier-Rouvière C. Ncadherin/p120 catenin association at cell-cell contacts occurs in cholesterol-rich membrane domains and is required for RhoA activation and myogenesis. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2009;284(34):23137-45.
- Bavis MA, Ireton RC, Reynolds AB. A core function for p120-catenin in cadherin turnover. The Journal of cell biology. 2003;163(3):525-34.
- Yap AS, Kovacs EM. Direct cadherin-activated cell signaling: a view from the plasma membrane. The Journal of cell biology. 2003;160(1):11-6.
- 83. Ratheesh A, Priya R, Yap AS. Chapter Three Coordinating Rho and Rac: The Regulation of Rho GTPase Signaling and Cadherin Junctions. In: van Roy F, editor. Progress in molecular biology and translational science. 116: Academic Press; 2013. p. 49-68.
- 84. Charrasse S, Meriane M, Comunale F, Blangy A, Gauthier-Rouvière C. N-cadherin-dependent cell-cell contact regulates Rho GTPases and beta-catenin localization in mouse C2C12 myoblasts. The Journal of cell biology. 2002;158(5):953-65.
- 85. Comunale F, Causeret M, Favard C, Cau J, Taulet N, Charrasse S, et al. Rac1 and RhoA GTPases have antagonistic functions during N-cadherin-dependent cell-cell contact formation in C2C12 myoblasts. Biology of the cell. 2007;99(9):503-17.

- 86. Niessen CM, Leckband D, Yap AS. Tissue organization by cadherin adhesion molecules: dynamic molecular and cellular mechanisms of morphogenetic regulation. Physiological reviews. 2011;91(2):691-731.
- 87. Pokutta S, Weis WI. Structure and mechanism of cadherins and catenins in cell-cell contacts. Annual review of cell and developmental biology. 2007;23:237-61.
- McLachlan RW, Yap AS. Not so simple: the complexity of phosphotyrosine signaling at cadherin adhesive contacts. Journal of molecular medicine (Berlin, Germany). 2007;85(6):545-54.
- Lilien J, Balsamo J. The regulation of cadherin-mediated adhesion by tyrosine phosphorylation/dephosphorylation of beta-catenin. Current opinion in cell biology. 2005;17(5):459-65.
- 90. Guo HB, Johnson H, Randolph M, Pierce M. Regulation of homotypic cell-cell adhesion by branched N-glycosylation of N-cadherin extracellular EC2 and EC3 domains. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2009;284(50):34986-97.
- 91. Kalluri R, Weinberg RA. The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(6):1420-8.
- Thiery JP, Acloque H, Huang RY, Nieto MA. Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in development and disease. Cell. 2009;139(5):871-90.
- 93. Kalluri R, Neilson EG. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition and its implications for fibrosis. J Clin Invest. 2003;112(12):1776-84.
- 94. Zeisberg M, Neilson EG. Biomarkers for epithelial-mesenchymal transitions. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(6):1429-37.

- 95. Kalluri R. EMT: when epithelial cells decide to become mesenchymal-like cells. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(6):1417-9.
- 96. Blick T, Widodo E, Hugo H, Waltham M, Lenburg ME, Neve RM, et al. Epithelial mesenchymal transition traits in human breast cancer cell lines. Clinical & experimental metastasis. 2008;25(6):629-42.
- 97. Trimboli AJ, Fukino K, de Bruin A, Wei G, Shen L, Tanner SM, et al. Direct evidence for epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in breast cancer. Cancer research. 2008;68(3):937-45.
- 98. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646-74.
- Wang Y, Zhou BP. Epithelial-mesenchymal Transition---A Hallmark of Breast Cancer Metastasis. Cancer hallmarks. 2013;1(1):38-49.
- 100. Pardali K, Moustakas A. Actions of TGF-beta as tumor suppressor and pro-metastatic factor in human cancer. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2007;1775(1):21-62.
- 101. Nieto MA. The snail superfamily of zinc-finger transcription factors. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2002;3(3):155-66.
- 102. Barrallo-Gimeno A, Nieto MA. The Snail genes as inducers of cell movement and survival: implications in development and cancer. Development (Cambridge, England). 2005;132(14):3151-61.
- 103. Wu Y, Zhou BP. Snail: More than EMT. Cell adhesion & migration. 2010;4(2):199-203.
- 104. Peinado H, Olmeda D, Cano A. Snail, Zeb and bHLH factors in tumour progression: an alliance against the epithelial phenotype? Nature reviews Cancer. 2007;7(6):415-28.

- 105. Moody SE, Perez D, Pan TC, Sarkisian CJ, Portocarrero CP, Sterner CJ, et al. The transcriptional repressor Snail promotes mammary tumor recurrence. Cancer cell. 2005;8(3):197-209.
- 106. Chen WJ, Wang H, Tang Y, Liu CL, Li HL, Li WT. Multidrug resistance in breast cancer cells during epithelial-mesenchymal transition is modulated by breast cancer resistant protein. Chinese journal of cancer. 2010;29(2):151-7.
- 107. Wong FY, Tham WY, Nei WL, Lim C, Miao H. Age exerts a continuous effect in the outcomes of Asian breast cancer patients treated with breast-conserving therapy. Cancer communications (London, England). 2018;38(1):39.
- 108. Ellis MJ, Ding L, Shen D, Luo J, Suman VJ, Wallis JW, et al. Whole-genome analysis informs breast cancer response to aromatase inhibition. Nature. 2012;486(7403):353-60.
- 109. Melnikow J, Fenton JJ, Whitlock EP, Miglioretti DL, Weyrich MS, Thompson JH, et al. Supplemental Screening for Breast Cancer in Women With Dense Breasts: A Systematic Review for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Ann Intern Med. 2016;164(4):268-78.
- 110. Goodspeed A, Heiser LM, Gray JW, Costello JC. Tumor-Derived Cell Lines as Molecular Models of Cancer Pharmacogenomics. Molecular cancer research : MCR. 2016;14(1):3-13.
- 111. Shoemaker RH. The NCI60 human tumour cell line anticancer drug screen. Nature Reviews Cancer. 2006;6(10):813-23.
- 112. Shankavaram UT, Varma S, Kane D, Sunshine M, Chary KK, Reinhold WC, et al. CellMiner:a relational database and query tool for the NCI-60 cancer cell lines. BMC Genomics.2009;10(1):277.

- 113. Heiser LM, Sadanandam A, Kuo WL, Benz SC, Goldstein TC, Ng S, et al. Subtype and pathway specific responses to anticancer compounds in breast cancer. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2012;109(8):2724-9.
- 114. Daemen A, Griffith OL, Heiser LM, Wang NJ, Enache OM, Sanborn Z, et al. Modeling precision treatment of breast cancer. Genome biology. 2013;14(10):R110.
- 115. Lamb J, Crawford ED, Peck D, Modell JW, Blat IC, Wrobel MJ, et al. The Connectivity Map: Using Gene-Expression Signatures to Connect Small Molecules, Genes, and Disease. Science. 2006;313(5795):1929-35.
- 116. Yang W, Soares J, Greninger P, Edelman EJ, Lightfoot H, Forbes S, et al. Genomics of Drug Sensitivity in Cancer (GDSC): a resource for therapeutic biomarker discovery in cancer cells. Nucleic acids research. 2013;41(Database issue):D955-61.
- 117. Barretina J, Caponigro G, Stransky N, Venkatesan K, Margolin AA, Kim S, et al. The Cancer
 Cell Line Encyclopedia enables predictive modelling of anticancer drug sensitivity. Nature.
 2012;483(7391):603-7.
- 118. Basu A, Bodycombe NE, Cheah JH, Price EV, Liu K, Schaefer GI, et al. An interactive resource to identify cancer genetic and lineage dependencies targeted by small molecules. Cell. 2013;154(5):1151-61.
- 119. Sharma SV, Haber DA, Settleman J. Cell line-based platforms to evaluate the therapeutic efficacy of candidate anticancer agents. Nature reviews Cancer. 2010;10(4):241-53.
- 120. Nguyen LV, Cox CL, Eirew P, Knapp DJHF, Pellacani D, Kannan N, et al. DNA barcoding reveals diverse growth kinetics of human breast tumour subclones in serially passaged xenografts. Nature Communications. 2014;5(1):5871.

- 121. Cheung PF, Yip CW, Ng LW, Lo KW, Chow C, Chan KF, et al. Comprehensive characterization of the patient-derived xenograft and the paralleled primary hepatocellular carcinoma cell line. Cancer cell international. 2016;16:41.
- 122. Zhang L, Liu Y, Wang X, Tang Z, Li S, Hu Y, et al. The extent of inflammatory infiltration in primary cancer tissues is associated with lymphomagenesis in immunodeficient mice. Scientific Reports. 2015;5(1):9447.
- 123. Hidalgo M, Amant F, Biankin AV, Budinská E, Byrne AT, Caldas C, et al. Patient-derived xenograft models: an emerging platform for translational cancer research. Cancer discovery. 2014;4(9):998-1013.
- 124. Sereti E, Karagianellou T, Kotsoni I, Magouliotis D, Kamposioras K, Ulukaya E, et al. Patient Derived Xenografts (PDX) for personalized treatment of pancreatic cancer: emerging allies in the war on a devastating cancer? Journal of proteomics. 2018;188:107-18.
- 125. Esparza-López J, Martínez-Aguilar JF, Ibarra-Sánchez MJ. Deriving primary cancer cell cultures for personalized therapy. Revista de investigacion clinica; organo del Hospital de Enfermedades de la Nutricion. 2019;71(6):369-80.
- 126. Kar R, Sharma C, Sen S, Jain SK, Gupta SD, Singh N. Response of primary culture of human ovarian cancer cells to chemotherapy: In vitro individualized therapy. Journal of cancer research and therapeutics. 2016;12(2):1050-5.
- 127. Kodack DP, Farago AF, Dastur A, Held MA, Dardaei L, Friboulet L, et al. Primary Patient-Derived Cancer Cells and Their Potential for Personalized Cancer Patient Care. Cell reports. 2017;21(11):3298-309.
- 128. Burdall SE, Hanby AM, Lansdown MR, Speirs V. Breast cancer cell lines: friend or foe? Breast cancer research : BCR. 2003;5(2):89-95.

- 129. Ethier SP, Mahacek ML, Gullick WJ, Frank TS, Weber BL. Differential isolation of normal luminal mammary epithelial cells and breast cancer cells from primary and metastatic sites using selective media. Cancer research. 1993;53(3):627-35.
- 130. McCallum HM, Lowther GW. Long-term culture of primary breast cancer in defined medium.Breast cancer research and treatment. 1996;39(3):247-59.
- 131. Gazdar AF, Kurvari V, Virmani A, Gollahon L, Sakaguchi M, Westerfield M, et al. Characterization of paired tumor and non-tumor cell lines established from patients with breast cancer. Int J Cancer. 1998;78(6):766-74.
- 132. Wistuba, II, Behrens C, Milchgrub S, Syed S, Ahmadian M, Virmani AK, et al. Comparison of features of human breast cancer cell lines and their corresponding tumors. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. 1998;4(12):2931-8.
- 133. Forozan F, Mahlamäki EH, Monni O, Chen Y, Veldman R, Jiang Y, et al. Comparative Genomic Hybridization Analysis of 38 Breast Cancer Cell Lines: A Basis for Interpreting Complementary DNA Microarray Data1. Cancer research. 2000;60(16):4519-25.
- 134. Ethier SP, Kokeny KE, Ridings JW, Dilts CA. erbB family receptor expression and growth regulation in a newly isolated human breast cancer cell line. Cancer research. 1996;56(4):899-907.
- 135. Tirkkonen M, Tanner M, Karhu R, Kallioniemi A, Isola J, Kallioniemi OP. Molecular cytogenetics of primary breast cancer by CGH. Genes, chromosomes & cancer. 1998;21(3):177-84.

- 136. Forozan F, Veldman R, Ammerman CA, Parsa NZ, Kallioniemi A, Kallioniemi OP, et al. Molecular cytogenetic analysis of 11 new breast cancer cell lines. British journal of cancer. 1999;81(8):1328-34.
- 137. Dairkee SH, Paulo EC, Traquina P, Moore DH, Ljung BM, Smith HS. Partial enzymatic degradation of stroma allows enrichment and expansion of primary breast tumor cells. Cancer research. 1997;57(8):1590-6.
- 138. Dairkee SH, Deng G, Stampfer MR, Waldman FM, Smith HS. Selective cell culture of primary breast carcinoma. Cancer research. 1995;55(12):2516-9.
- 139. Speirs V, White MC, Green AR. Collagenase III: a superior enzyme for complete disaggregation and improved viability of normal and malignant human breast tissue. In vitro cellular & developmental biology Animal. 1996;32(2):72-4.
- 140. Emerman JT, Wilkinson DA. Routine culturing of normal, dysplastic and malignant human mammary epithelial cells from small tissue samples. In vitro cellular & developmental biology : journal of the Tissue Culture Association. 1990;26(12):1186-94.
- 141. Speirs V, Green AR, Walton DS, Kerin MJ, Fox JN, Carleton PJ, et al. Short-term primary culture of epithelial cells derived from human breast tumours. British journal of cancer. 1998;78(11):1421-9.
- 142. Speirs V, Green AR, Atkin SL. Activity and gene expression of 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type I in primary cultures of epithelial and stromal cells derived from normal and tumourous human breast tissue: the role of IL-8. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology. 1998;67(3):267-74.

- 143. Loveday RL, Speirs V, Drew PJ, Kerin MJ, Monson JR, Greenman J. Intracellular flow cytometric analysis of primary cultured breast tumor cells. Cancer investigation. 2002;20(3):340-7.
- 144. Wolman SR, Mohamed AN, Heppner GH, Soule HD. Chromosomal markers of immortalization in human breast epithelium. Genes, chromosomes & cancer. 1994;10(1):59-65.
- 145. Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Stampfer M, Bartek J, Lewis A, Boshell M, Lane EB, et al. Keratin expression in human mammary epithelial cells cultured from normal and malignant tissue: relation to in vivo phenotypes and influence of medium. Journal of cell science. 1989;94 (Pt 3):403-13.
- 146. Ethier SP. Human breast cancer cell lines as models of growth regulation and disease progression. Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia. 1996;1(1):111-21.
- 147. Imam SA, Kim MS, Anker L, Datar RH, Law RE, Taylor CR. Systematic determination of telomerase activity and telomerase length during the progression of human breast cancer in cell culture models. Anticancer research. 1997;17(6d):4435-41.
- 148. Li Z, Bustos V, Miner J, Paulo E, Meng ZH, Zlotnikov G, et al. Propagation of genetically altered tumor cells derived from fine-needle aspirates of primary breast carcinoma. Cancer research. 1998;58(23):5271-4.
- 149. Fruehauf JP. In vitro assay-assisted treatment selection for women with breast or ovarian cancer. Endocrine-related cancer. 2002;9(3):171-82.
- 150. Ellis RJ, Fabian CJ, Kimler BF, Tawfik O, Mayo MS, Decelis CR, et al. Factors associated with success of the extreme drug resistance assay in primary breast cancer specimens. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2002;71(2):95-102.

- 151. Kohler BA, Sherman RL, Howlader N, Jemal A, Ryerson AB, Henry KA, et al. Annual Report to the Nation on the Status of Cancer, 1975-2011, Featuring Incidence of Breast Cancer Subtypes by Race/Ethnicity, Poverty, and State. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2015;107(6):djv048.
- 152. Cailleau R, Olivé M, Cruciger QV. Long-term human breast carcinoma cell lines of metastatic origin: preliminary characterization. In vitro. 1978;14(11):911-5.
- 153. Miserocchi G, Mercatali L, Liverani C, De Vita A, Spadazzi C, Pieri F, et al. Management and potentialities of primary cancer cultures in preclinical and translational studies. J Transl Med. 2017;15(1):229.
- 154. Yu J, Qin B, Moyer AM, Sinnwell JP, Thompson KJ, Copland JA, 3rd, et al. Establishing and characterizing patient-derived xenografts using pre-chemotherapy percutaneous biopsy and post-chemotherapy surgical samples from a prospective neoadjuvant breast cancer study. Breast cancer research : BCR. 2017;19(1):130.
- 155. Goetz MP, Kalari KR, Suman VJ, Moyer AM, Yu J, Visscher DW, et al. Tumor Sequencing and Patient-Derived Xenografts in the Neoadjuvant Treatment of Breast Cancer. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2017;109(7).
- 156. Yu J, Qin B, Moyer AM, Nowsheen S, Liu T, Qin S, et al. DNA methyltransferase expression in triple-negative breast cancer predicts sensitivity to decitabine. J Clin Invest. 2018;128(6):2376-88.
- 157. Zhuang Y, Grainger JM, Vedell PT, Yu J, Moyer AM, Gao H, et al. Establishment and characterization of immortalized human breast cancer cell lines from breast cancer patient-derived xenografts (PDX). npj Breast Cancer. 2021;7(1):79.

- 158. Smith HS, Wolman SR, Hackett AJ. The biology of breast cancer at the cellular level. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 1984;738(3):103-23.
- 159. Smith HS, Wolman SR, Dairkee SH, Hancock MC, Lippman M, Leff A, et al. Immortalization in culture: occurrence at a late stage in the progression of breast cancer. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 1987;78(4):611-5.
- 160. Dangles-Marie V, Pocard M, Richon S, Weiswald LB, Assayag F, Saulnier P, et al. Establishment of human colon cancer cell lines from fresh tumors versus xenografts: comparison of success rate and cell line features. Cancer research. 2007;67(1):398-407.
- 161. Cavalloni G, Peraldo-Neia C, Varamo C, Casorzo L, Dell'Aglio C, Bernabei P, et al. Establishment and characterization of a human intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma cell line derived from an Italian patient. Tumour biology : the journal of the International Society for Oncodevelopmental Biology and Medicine. 2016;37(3):4041-52.
- 162. Matossian MD, Burks HE, Elliott S, Hoang VT, Bowles AC, Sabol RA, et al. Drug resistance profiling of a new triple negative breast cancer patient-derived xenograft model. BMC cancer. 2019;19(1):205.
- 163. Casey SC, Vaccari M, Al-Mulla F, Al-Temaimi R, Amedei A, Barcellos-Hoff MH, et al. The effect of environmental chemicals on the tumor microenvironment. Carcinogenesis. 2015;36 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S160-83.
- 164. Cunderlíková B. Issues to be considered when studying cancer in vitro. Critical reviews in oncology/hematology. 2013;85(2):95-111.
- 165. Kahn J, Tofilon PJ, Camphausen K. Preclinical models in radiation oncology. Radiation oncology (London, England). 2012;7:223.

- 166. Giard DJ, Aaronson SA, Todaro GJ, Arnstein P, Kersey JH, Dosik H, et al. In vitro cultivation of human tumors: establishment of cell lines derived from a series of solid tumors. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 1973;51(5):1417-23.
- 167. Gillet JP, Varma S, Gottesman MM. The clinical relevance of cancer cell lines. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2013;105(7):452-8.
- 168. Herrmann D, Conway JR, Vennin C, Magenau A, Hughes WE, Morton JP, et al. Threedimensional cancer models mimic cell-matrix interactions in the tumour microenvironment. Carcinogenesis. 2014;35(8):1671-9.
- 169. Schmidt F, Efferth T. Tumor Heterogeneity, Single-Cell Sequencing, and Drug Resistance.Pharmaceuticals (Basel, Switzerland). 2016;9(2).
- 170. Liu X, Krawczyk E, Suprynowicz FA, Palechor-Ceron N, Yuan H, Dakic A, et al. Conditional reprogramming and long-term expansion of normal and tumor cells from human biospecimens. Nature Protocols. 2017;12(2):439-51.
- 171. Chapman S, Liu X, Meyers C, Schlegel R, McBride AA. Human keratinocytes are efficiently immortalized by a Rho kinase inhibitor. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(7):2619-26.
- 172. Liu X, Ory V, Chapman S, Yuan H, Albanese C, Kallakury B, et al. ROCK inhibitor and feeder cells induce the conditional reprogramming of epithelial cells. The American journal of pathology. 2012;180(2):599-607.
- 173. Suprynowicz FA, Upadhyay G, Krawczyk E, Kramer SC, Hebert JD, Liu X, et al. Conditionally reprogrammed cells represent a stem-like state of adult epithelial cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2012;109(49):20035-40.

- 174. Watanabe K, Ueno M, Kamiya D, Nishiyama A, Matsumura M, Wataya T, et al. A ROCK inhibitor permits survival of dissociated human embryonic stem cells. Nature Biotechnology. 2007;25(6):681-6.
- 175. Terunuma A, Limgala RP, Park CJ, Choudhary I, Vogel JC. Efficient procurement of epithelial stem cells from human tissue specimens using a Rho-associated protein kinase inhibitor Y-27632. Tissue engineering Part A. 2010;16(4):1363-8.
- 176. Yue J, Shukla R, Accardi R, Zanella-Cleon I, Siouda M, Cros MP, et al. Cutaneous human papillomavirus type 38 E7 regulates actin cytoskeleton structure for increasing cell proliferation through CK2 and the eukaryotic elongation factor 1A. Journal of virology. 2011;85(17):8477-94.
- 177. Charette ST, McCance DJ. The E7 protein from human papillomavirus type 16 enhances keratinocyte migration in an Akt-dependent manner. Oncogene. 2007;26(52):7386-90.
- 178. Yuan H, Myers S, Wang J, Zhou D, Woo JA, Kallakury B, et al. Use of reprogrammed cells to identify therapy for respiratory papillomatosis. The New England journal of medicine. 2012;367(13):1220-7.
- 179. Prater MD, Petit V, Alasdair Russell I, Giraddi RR, Shehata M, Menon S, et al. Mammary stem cells have myoepithelial cell properties. Nature cell biology. 2014;16(10):942-50, 1-7.
- 180. Walters BJ, Diao S, Zheng F, Walters BJ, Layman WS, Zuo J. Pseudo-immortalization of postnatal cochlear progenitor cells yields a scalable cell line capable of transcriptionally regulating mature hair cell genes. Sci Rep. 2015;5:17792.
- 181. Hata AN, Niederst MJ, Archibald HL, Gomez-Caraballo M, Siddiqui FM, Mulvey HE, et al. Tumor cells can follow distinct evolutionary paths to become resistant to epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition. Nature Medicine. 2016;22(3):262-9.

- 182. Garraway LA, Lander ES. Lessons from the cancer genome. Cell. 2013;153(1):17-37.
- 183. Boehm JS, Golub TR. An ecosystem of cancer cell line factories to support a cancer dependency map. Nature reviews Genetics. 2015;16(7):373-4.
- 184. Chu HW, Rios C, Huang C, Wesolowska-Andersen A, Burchard EG, O'Connor BP, et al. CRISPR-Cas9-mediated gene knockout in primary human airway epithelial cells reveals a proinflammatory role for MUC18. Gene therapy. 2015;22(10):822-9.
- 185. Friedman AA, Letai A, Fisher DE, Flaherty KT. Precision medicine for cancer with nextgeneration functional diagnostics. Nature reviews Cancer. 2015;15(12):747-56.
- 186. Crystal AS, Shaw AT, Sequist LV, Friboulet L, Niederst MJ, Lockerman EL, et al. Patientderived models of acquired resistance can identify effective drug combinations for cancer. Science. 2014;346(6216):1480-6.
- 187. Beglyarova N, Banina E, Zhou Y, Mukhamadeeva R, Andrianov G, Bobrov E, et al. Screening of Conditionally Reprogrammed Patient-Derived Carcinoma Cells Identifies ERCC3-MYC Interactions as a Target in Pancreatic Cancer. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. 2016;22(24):6153-63.
- 188. Saeed K, Rahkama V, Eldfors S, Bychkov D, Mpindi JP, Yadav B, et al. Comprehensive Drug Testing of Patient-derived Conditionally Reprogrammed Cells from Castrationresistant Prostate Cancer. European urology. 2017;71(3):319-27.
- 189. Veit G, Oliver K, Apaja PM, Perdomo D, Bidaud-Meynard A, Lin ST, et al. Ribosomal Stalk Protein Silencing Partially Corrects the ΔF508-CFTR Functional Expression Defect. PLoS biology. 2016;14(5):e1002462.

- 190. Butler CR, Hynds RE, Gowers KH, Lee Ddo H, Brown JM, Crowley C, et al. Rapid Expansion of Human Epithelial Stem Cells Suitable for Airway Tissue Engineering. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2016;194(2):156-68.
- 191. Holliday DL, Speirs V. Choosing the right cell line for breast cancer research. Breast Cancer Research. 2011;13(4):215.
- 192. Hickman JA, Graeser R, de Hoogt R, Vidic S, Brito C, Gutekunst M, et al. Three-dimensional models of cancer for pharmacology and cancer cell biology: capturing tumor complexity in vitro/ex vivo. Biotechnology journal. 2014;9(9):1115-28.
- 193. Pampaloni F, Reynaud EG, Stelzer EH. The third dimension bridges the gap between cell culture and live tissue. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2007;8(10):839-45.
- 194. Kim J, Kong J, Chang H, Kim H, Kim A. EGF induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition through phospho-Smad2/3-Snail signaling pathway in breast cancer cells. Oncotarget. 2016;7(51):85021-32.
- 195. Nilchian A, Giotopoulou N, Sun W, Fuxe J. Different Regulation of Glut1 Expression and Glucose Uptake during the Induction and Chronic Stages of TGFβ1-Induced EMT in Breast Cancer Cells. Biomolecules. 2020;10(12).
- 196. Lamouille S, Derynck R. Cell size and invasion in TGF-beta-induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition is regulated by activation of the mTOR pathway. The Journal of cell biology. 2007;178(3):437-51.
- 197. Kim BN, Ahn DH, Kang N, Yeo CD, Kim YK, Lee KY, et al. TGF-β induced EMT and stemness characteristics are associated with epigenetic regulation in lung cancer. Scientific Reports. 2020;10(1):10597.

- 198. Huang D, Xu W, Xu X, Zhang X, Zhou R, Chen P. EMT influences the expression of CK19 in pleural effusion-derived lung cancer cells and their invasion and metastasis. Oncology letters. 2016;12(6):5052-8.
- 199. Liu K, Newbury PA, Glicksberg BS, Zeng WZD, Paithankar S, Andrechek ER, et al. Evaluating cell lines as models for metastatic breast cancer through integrative analysis of genomic data. Nature Communications. 2019;10(1):2138.
- 200. Kuo WL, Ueng SH, Wu CH, Lee LY, Lee YS, Yu MC, et al. Establishment of two basal-like breast cancer cell lines with extremely low tumorigenicity from Taiwanese premenopausal women. Human cell. 2018;31(2):154-66.
- 201. Fujisue M, Nishimura R, Okumura Y, Tashima R, Nishiyama Y, Osako T, et al. Clinical Significance of CK19 Negative Breast Cancer. Cancers. 2012;5(1):1-11.
- 202. Fu P, Du F, Chen W, Yao M, Lv K, Liu Y. Tanshinone IIA blocks epithelial-mesenchymal transition through HIF-1α downregulation, reversing hypoxia-induced chemotherapy resistance in breast cancer cell lines. Oncology reports. 2014;31(6):2561-8.
- 203.Wei Z, Shan Z, Shaikh ZA. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast epithelial cells treated with cadmium and the role of Snail. Toxicology and applied pharmacology. 2018;344:46-55.
- 204. Martowicz A, Spizzo G, Gastl G, Untergasser G. Phenotype-dependent effects of EpCAM expression on growth and invasion of human breast cancer cell lines. BMC cancer. 2012;12:501.
- 205. Chao YL, Shepard CR, Wells A. Breast carcinoma cells re-express E-cadherin during mesenchymal to epithelial reverting transition. Molecular cancer. 2010;9:179.